Molecular mechanisms of lymphangiogenesis: role of VEGFR-3 mediated signaling

Taija Mäkinen

Molecular/Cancer Biology Laboratory Biomedicum Helsinki and Haartman Institute and Department of Biosciences, Division of Genetics Faculty of Science

> University of Helsinki Finland

Academic dissertation

To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Science of the University of Helsinki, for public criticism in the lecture hall 2, Biomedicum Helsinki, Haartmaninkatu 8,Helsinki on June 13th, 2002, at 12 o'clock noon.

Helsinki 2002

THESIS SUPERVISOR

Kari Alitalo, M.D., Ph.D. Research Professor of the Finnish Academy of Sciences Molecular/Cancer Biology Laboratory Biomedicum Helsinki University of Helsinki

THESIS REVIEWERS

Irma Thesleff, M.D., Ph.D. Research Professor of the Finnish Academy of Sciences Institute of Biotechnology University of Helsinki

Juha Partanen, Ph.D. Docent Institute of Biotechnology University of Helsinki

THESIS OPPONENT

Erkki Ruoslahti, M.D., Ph. D. Distinguished Professor The Burnham Institute La Jolla, California USA

ISBN: 952-91-4702-3 (nid.) ISBN: 952-10-0580-7 (PDF) http://ethesis.helsinki.fi Yliopistopaino Helsinki 2002

CONTENTS

ABBREVIATIONS	4
ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	5
ABSTRACT	6
REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	7
1. CELL SIGNALING BY RECEPTOR TYROSINE KINASES	7
1.1. RTK activation	7
1.2. Signal transduction	8
1.3. Signal down-regulation	9
2. DEVELOPMENT OF THE VASCULAR SYSTEM	10
2.1. Vasculogenesis and angiogenesis	10
2.2. Lymphangiogenesis.	11
2.3. Phylogeny of blood and lymphatic vessels.	12
2.4. Molecular identity of lymphatic versus blood vascular endothelial cells	13
3. MOLECULAR REGULATION OF VASCULAR DEVELOPMENT	14
5.1. Angiogenic ana tympnangiogenic factors	14 15
5.1.1. VEOT Jamily O grown Jactors	15 17
3.7 Endothelial cell recentors	17
3.2.1.VEGE receptors	
3.2.2. Tie receptors	19
3.2.3. Neuropilins	19
3.3. VEGFs and VEGFRs in the development of other organ systems	20
4. PATHOLOGIC CONDITIONS INVOLVING BLOOD AND LYMPHATIC VESSELS	21
4.1. Tumor development and progression	21
4.2. Lymphedema	22
AIMS OF THE STUDY	25
MATERIALS AND METHODS	26
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	29
1. NEUROPILIN-1 IS A RECEPTOR FOR VEGF-B (I)	29
2. VEGFR-3 IS REQUIRED FOR THE DEVELOPMENT AND MAINTENANCE OF THE EMBRYONIC LYMPHATIC	
VASCULATURE (II)	30
3. VEGFR-3 TRANSDUCES LYMPHATIC ENDOTHELIAL CELL GROWTH, SURVIVAL AND MIGRATION SIGNALS (III)	32
3.1. Isolation of lymphatic endothelial cells	33
3.2. VEGFR-3 signal transduction	33
4. A GENETIC PROGRAM CONTROLLING THE LYMPHATIC VERSUS BLOOD VASCULAR ENDOTHELIAL CELL PHENOTY	<u>YPE</u>
	34
4.1. Gene expression profiling of lymphatic and blood vascular endothelial cells	34
4.2. Adhesion molecules in lymphatic and blood vascular endothelial cells	33 36
4.5.1 rox-1 as a jute actermining juctor for tympnatic enaothetiat cetts	30
CONCLUDING REMARKS	37
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	38
REFERENCES	39

ABBREVIATIONS

Ang	Angionoietin
BEC	blood vascular endothelial cell
BM	basement membrane
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
E	embryonic day
EC	endothelial cell
ECM	extracellular matrix
EGE	enidermal growth factor
FGF	fibroblast growth factor
Flk1	fetal liver kinase 1 (VEGFR-2)
Flt1	<i>fms</i> -like tyrosine kinase 1 (VEGFR-1)
Flt4	<i>fms</i> -like tyrosine kinase 4 (VEGFR-3)
GAP	GTPase-activating protein
GTP	guanosine triphosphate
Ig	Immunoglobulin
KDR	kinase insert domain containing receptor (VEGFR-2)
LEC	lymphatic endothelial cell
MAPK	mitogen activated protein kinase
NRP	neuropilin
PDGF	platelet-derived growth factor
PECAM	platelet-endothelial cell adhesion molecule
PI3-K	phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase
РКС	protein kinase C
PLCγ	phospholipase C-gamma
PlGF	placenta growth factor
Prox-1	prospero-related homeobox protein 1
RNA	ribonucleic acid
RTK	receptor tyrosine kinase
SMC	smooth muscle cell
Tek	Tunica interna endothelial cell kinase (Tie-2)
TGF	transforming growth factor
Tie	Tyrosine kinase with immunoglobulin and EGF homolygy domains
TNF	tumor necrosis factor
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor
VEGFR	vascular endothelial growth factor receptor
VPF	vascular permebility factor (VEGF)
VRF	VEGF related factor (VEGF-B)
VRP	VEGF related protein (VEGF-C)
vWF	von Willebrand Factor

ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original articles, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

- I Makinen, T.*, Olofsson, B.*, Karpanen, T., Hellman, U., Soker, S., Klagsbrun, M., Eriksson, U. and Alitalo, K. Differential binding of vascular endothelial growth factor B splice and proteolytic isoforms by Neuropilin-1. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 274, 21217-21222, 1999.
- II Mäkinen, T., Jussila, L., Veikkola, T., Karpanen, T., Kettunen, M.I., Pulkkanen, K.J., Kauppinen, R., Jackson, D.G., Kubo, H., Nishikawa, S.-I., Ylä-Herttuala, S. and Alitalo, K. Inhibition of lymphangiogenesis with resulting lymphedema in transgenic mice expressing soluble VEGF receptor-3. *Nature Medicine* 2, 199-205, 2001.
- III Mäkinen, T., Veikkola, T., Mustjoki, S., Karpanen, T., Wise, L., Mercer, A., Kerjaschki, D., Catimel, B., Nice, E.C., Stacker, S.A., Achen, M.G. and Alitalo, K. Isolated lymphatic endothelial cells transduce growth, survival and migratory signals via the VEGF-C/D receptor VEGFR-3. *The EMBO Journal* 17, 4762-4773, 2001.
- **IV** Petrova, T.V.*, Mäkinen, T.*, Mäkelä, T., Kerjaschki, D., Saarela, J., Ylä-Herttuala, S. and Alitalo K. Prox-1 regulates the genetic program controlling lymphatic versus blood vascular endothelial phenotype. Submitted, 2002.

*) these authors contributed equally to this work

ABSTRACT

Blood and lymphatic vessels form a circulatory system, which allows the transportation of metabolic substances, cells and proteins in the body. A major role of the lymphatic vasculature is to return an excess of the protein-rich interstitial fluid to the blood circulation. Until recently, studies of the lymphatic vessels were hampered due to the lack of specific markers, but to date several such markers have been identified. In addition, recent studies have indicated an important role for lymphatic vessels in certain developmental disorders, such as lymphedema, and as a route for metastasis of tumors. These findings have brought lymphatic biology to the forefront of vascular research.

Two members of the VEGF (vascular endothelial growth factor) family of growth factors, VEGF-C and VEGF-D, have been shown to stimulate the growth of lymphatic vessels via lymphatic endothelial cell receptor, VEGFR-3. Although VEGFR-3 is required for the development of the blood vascular system during early embryonic development, later on its expression becomes restricted to lymphatic endothelial cells and it thus serves as a marker of these cells in adult tissues. Recent studies also demonstrate that VEGFR-3 and its ligands are involved in the development of lymphedema and lymphatic metastasis.

This study was undertaken to obtain more information concerning the molecular mechanisms regulating the development and growth of lymphatic vessels, concentrating on the role of VEGFR-3 in these processes. We showed that VEGFR-3 mediates proliferation, survival and migration of lymphatic endothelial cells and demonstrated that VEGFR-3 function is required for the normal development of lymphatic vasculature. Blocking of VEGFR-3 signaling inhibited specifically lymphangiogenesis without affecting blood vessels, indicating that distinct molecular mechanisms control the development of the two vascular systems. We also analysed the genetic programs which determine the lymphatic and blood vascular endothelial cell identities, and identified the homeobox transcription factor Prox-1 as a fate determining factor for lymphatic endothelial cells. These studies give new insights into the phenotypic diversity of endothelial cells and reveal new potential vascular markers, some of which could provide important targets for the treatment of diseases characterised by abnormal angiogenesis or lymphangiogenesis.

REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

<u>1. Cell signaling by receptor tyrosine kinases</u>

Coordinated growth and differentiation of cells and their organisation into specific tissues depend on cell-cell signaling. Some of these signals are mediated via secreted growth factors which bind to their receptors on the surface of target cells. The receptormediated activation of intracellular signaling cascades usually target transcription factors, modify their activity and reprogram gene expression. Covalent modification of proteins by reversible phosphorylation accomplished by protein kinases is a key mechanism by which intracellular signals are transduced from the cell surface to the nucleus. Growth factor receptors having an intrinsic protein tyrosine kinase activities have been characterised as pehaps the most important regulators of cellular functions. In addition to receptor tyrosine kinases (RTK), other membrane receptors including integrins and guanosine triphosphate-binding protein (G protein)-coupled receptors transduce extracellular signals into the cell and regulate important cellular processes such as cell migration and survival (Lowes et al., 2002; Schwartz, 2001). To increase complexity, many intracellular signaling molecules participate in several signaling cascades. Cell-type specific expression of receptors and effector proteins and the availability of cognate ligands as well as the strength and persistence of the signal all affect how the cell responds to the stimulus. In addition, cellular history defines the developmental competence of the cell and its ability to respond to growth factor stimuli.

1.1. RTK activation

RTKs are divided into distinct subclasses based on their structural characteristics and

sequence similarities in their catalytic domain (van der Geer *et al.*, 1994). All RTKs have a ligand-binding extracellular domain, a single hydrophobic transmembrane region and a cytoplasmic portion containing the kinase domain that catalyses the transfer of γ phosphate from ATP to the acceptor tyrosine residues of target proteins.

RTKs dimerise in response to binding of specific ligands. Presumably the close contacts between receptor monomers lead to phosphorylation of tyrosine residue(s) in the activation loop in the catalytic domain. The phosphorylation induces a conformational change which permits ATP binding into the kinase active site and allows the transphosphorylation to proceed, leading to stimulation of the kinase activity (Hubbard, 1997; Lemmon and Schlessinger, 1994). The phosphorylation of tyrosine residues outside the catalytic domain then creates docking sites for intracellular signaling molecules containing Src homology 2 (SH2) and phosphotyrosine-binding (PTB) domains and leads to assembly of intracellular signaling complexes (Schlessinger, 2000).

The most common RTK ligands are secreted growth factors. After being released from the producer cells they usually diffuse relatively short distances in the extracellular matrix until they encounter their target cells. On the other hand, some growth factors bind to the pericellular matrix or are anchored to the cell surface and require close cell-cell contacts in order to bind and activate their receptors on the neighbouring cells. Many of the ligands act as dimers which can form stable receptor dimers by simultaneously binding two receptors. However, certain monomeric bivalent ligands, such as epidermal growth factor (EGF), have one strong and one weak receptor binding site and may induce receptor activation in a different manner. Even without ligand, EGF receptors have an ability to form dimers, and exist as preformed dimers on the cell surface (Moriki et al., 2001). Rather than causing receptor dimerisation ligand binding induces a rotation of the juxtamembrane and transmembrane regions, which causes the dissociation of the intracellular domains. The catalytic kinase domains then become accessible to their substrate tyrosine residues (Moriki et al., 2001). The activation of preformed receptor dimers via induction of conformational changes rather than through induction of receptor dimerisation may be a more commonly used mechanism in RTK signaling than first believed (Livnah et al., 1999). Another monomeric ligand, fibroblast growth factor (FGF) binds it's receptors monovalently and therefore it requires the assistance of accessory molecules, heparan sulphate proteoglycans, in order to activate the dimerisation and transphosphorylation of the receptors (Schlessinger et al., 2000; Spivak-Kroizman et al., 1994).

1.2. Signal transduction

RTK-induced activation of intracellular signaling molecules is usually accomplished by phosphorylation-induced membrane translocation or conformational changes. Although many signaling cascades ultimately target transcription factors and thus regulate gene expression, cells respond to RTK signaling also by changing their metabolism and cytoskeletal arrangements.

A large family of intracellular signaling molecules possess intrinsic enzymatic activities such as protein kinase, phosphatase, phospholipase activities or GTPase-activating nucleotide exchange activity (Schlessinger, 2000). Other molecules are adaptor proteins which provide links between different signaling molecules and networks. A classical example of the signal transduction patways activated via growth factor signaling is the Ras/MAP (mitogen activated protein) kinase cascade. Ras is a GTPase whose importance in cell proliferation and differentiation is well recognised through many oncogenic forms of Ras that have been found in cancers. Once activated via a guanine nucleotide exchange factor, Sos, the GTP-bound Ras recruits a serine kinase Raf to the plasma membrane. The interaction with Ras is necessary for Raf activation, but possibly an additional event such as phosphorylation is also required. After membrane translocation Raf can be phosphorylated for example by members of the membrane-associated Src family kinases. Activated Raf then starts a kinase cascade including MAPK kinase and MAP kinase (Fig. 1). MAP kinases are a family of enzymes some of which can translocate into the nucleus and phosphorylate and activate transcription factors. In addition to inducing cell proliferation, the highly conserved MAPK cascades regulate metabolic processes, cell survival, differentiation, cell cycle and cell migration in all eukaryotes (Chang and Karin, 2001)

Several RTKs stimulate phosphoinositol metabolism. RTK-activated phospholipase C-y catalyses the hydrolysis of phosphatidylinositol (4,5)-bisphosphate (PIP₂) to generate second messengers diacylglycerol and inositol-1,4,5 triphosphate (IP₃), which then regulates intracellular Ca^{2+} levels (Fig. 1). The phospholipid kinase PI3kinase activates another signaling cascade. The p85 adaptor subunit of PI3-kinase can bind to the phosphorylated residues in transmembrane receptors and recruit the catalytic p110 unit into the complex at the cell membrane. This activates the enzymatic activity of p110 and leads to phosphorylation of membrane-localized phosphoinositides which in turn act as second messengers. PI3kinase products activate serine/threonine

kinase Akt which can modify the activity of pro- and anti-apoptotic proteins, transcription factors and their regulators by phosphorylation. Direct Akt targets include for example a pro-apoptotic protein BAD, caspase 9, the NF- κ B regulator IKK and some members of the Forkhead family of transcription factors, which are important regulators of cell survival (Datta *et al.*, 1999).



1.3. Signal down-regulation

There are several mechanisms by which RTK activity and tyrosine phosphorylation are regulated inside the cell. Naturally occurring RTK antagonists and soluble receptor variants provide mechanisms for the inhibition of receptor activation (Kendall and Thomas, 1993; Maisonpierre *et al.*, 1997). RTKs may also contain domains with repressor functions which keep them in an inactive state (Gille *et al.*, 2000; Tao *et al.*, 2001). For example, the juxtamembrane region of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 1 (VEGFR-1) contains a repressor

(PKC) can phosphorylate EGF receptor on multiple serine and threonine residues. PKCinduced phosphorylation of EGFR decreases its tyrosine kinase activity and therefore results in the inhibition of EGF signaling (Cochet *et al.*, 1984; Schlessinger, 2000). By competing for the binding of the same receptor motif, intracellular inhibitor proteins can block effector protein activation without

receptor tyrosine kinase activated intracellular signal transduction pathways. Ligand binding to the extracellular domain causes the dimerisation of receptor monomers. Mutual transphosphorylation between the catalytic domains (black boxes) activates the kinase activity and phosphorylation of tyrosine residues outside the catalytic domain then creates docking sites (P) for intracellular signaling molecules. Activation of intracellular signaling pathways including Ras, PLC- γ and PI3-kinase cascades then lead to cellular responses such as proliferation, migration or survival.

Figure 1. A schematic figure of the

sequence which inhibits receptor activity (Gille *et al.*, 2000).

kinases may also regulate RTK activity,

enabling unrelated kinases to down-regulate

each other. For example, protein kinase C

Phosphorylation by serine/theronine

modifying RTK activity (Emanuelli *et al.*, 2000). Furthermore, the level of tyrosine phosphorylation is under tight regulation by tyrosine phosphatases (Ostman and Bohmer, 2001). Finally, ligand-induced internalisation of the receptor-ligand complexes usually leads to lysosomal degradation of the receptor.

2. Development of the vascular system

2.1. Vasculogenesis and angiogenesis

During embryogenesis the cardiovascular system is the first functional organ system and its development and growth are essential for maintaining the growth of the whole embryo. The endothelial cells lining the blood vessels differentiate from mesodermal precursor cells, angioblasts, to form a primitive vascular network in a process called vasculogenesis (Risau, 1997; Risau and Flamme, 1995). The primitive plexus of homogenously sized endothelial tubes is then extensively remodeled into a more mature vessel network consisting of a hierarchy of larger and smaller blood vessels (Fig. 2). This remodeling occurs both by regression of the vessels and by angiogenesis, consisting of sprouting, splitting or fusion of pre-existing vessels to adjust the vascular density according to the metabolic requirements of a certain tissue or organ (Carmeliet, 2000; Risau, 1997). Soon after the formation of the vessels, endothelial cells become surrounded by pericytes or vascular smooth muscle cells (Fig. 2).

Pericytes and endothelial cells share a common basement membrane (BM) which is a thin sheet-like extracellular matrix between the two cell types. The main structural constituents of the BM include fibronectin, laminin, collagens and heparan sulphate proteoglycans. Depending on the type of the Since RTKs regulate cellular proliferation, their aberrant expression or dysfunction may lead to uncontrolled growth. For example, several transforming oncogenes encode for constitutive active mutated forms of RTKs or their down-stream effector proteins. Activating or inactivating RTK mutations can also lead to developmental disorders.

vessel and on the tissue environment the composition of the vascular BM is variable. Failure to form a proper BM can lead to decreased pericyte adhesion and migration and to defects in vessel stability, indicating an important role for the BM in normal vascular development (Beltramo *et al.*, 2002; Thyboll *et al.*, 2002).

Already before the onset of blood circulation, the endothelial tubes are specified as two parallel but distinct vascular networks, arteries and veins. The normal sprouting and branching of the maturing vasculature involve repulsive signals which prevent arteries and veins from fusing together. Failure in the establishment of the arterial and venous identity leads to vascular dysplasia (Urness et al., 2000). Recent studies have shed light on the molecular basis for this identity. For example, interaction between EphrinB2 in arteries and its receptor EphB4 in veins is important in defining the boundaries between these vessels (Adams et al., 1999; Wang et al., 1998). Furthermore, signaling via Notch (Lawson et al., 2001; Zhong et al., 2001) and activin receptor-like kinase-1 (Urness et al., 2000) induce the expression of arterial genes and supress venous-specific genes. Therefore these molecules have a crucial role in the proper arterial-venous differentiation.

While vasculogenesis is mainly thought to be restricted to embryonic

development, angiogenesis has an important role throughout adult life in physiological processes such as in the female reproductive cycle and in wound healing. Although the endothelial cells remain guiescent for most of their life in adult organisms, upon angiogenic stimuli they can enter the cell cycle and proliferate rapidly. Endothelial cells are also activated to secrete proteolytic enzymes which degrade the basement membrane, to migrate towards the stimuli and to form capillary sprouts. However, during normal physiological angiogenesis the neovascularisation is short-lived and discontinuation of the stimulus leads to involution and disappearance of the newly formed vessels, as in the case of the granulation tissue of a healing wound. In contrast, in certain pathological conditions, such as in cancer and in chronic inflammatory disorders. the neovascularisation is sustained and excessive angiogenesis contributes to the development of these diseases (Carmeliet and Jain, 2000; Folkman, 1995; Folkman, 1996). Knowledge of the molecular mechanisms by which angiogenesis is controlled may vield strategies for the treatment of diseases characterised by abnormal angiogenesis, and understandably the field has received a lot of research interest during the past decades.



Figure 2. Development of the embryonic blood and lymphatic vessels. During vasculogenesis the endothelial precursor cells, angioblasts, form a primitive capillary plexus which is then further remodelled via angiogenesis. Vessel stabilisation requires the recruitment of smooth muscle cells (SMC). Lymphatic vessels arise by sprouting from the veins. Adapted from (Alitalo and Carmeliet, 2002; Conway *et al.*, 2001).

2.2. Lymphangiogenesis

Due to high pressure inside the blood vessels fluid continuously escapes from the blood capillaries to the surrounding tissue. A major function of the lymphatic system is to transport this extravasated fluid as well as cells and plasma proteins back to the blood circulation. In addition, the lymphatic vasculature is an important part of the immune system, since it filters lymph and its antigens through lymph nodes. Lymphatic vessels also serve as one of the major routes for absorption of lipids from the gut (Witte *et al.*, 2001).

Lymphatic vessels are characterised by irregular lumen with no red blood cells inside, they have discontinuous basal lamina. overlapping intercellular junctional complexes and anchoring filaments that connect endothelial cells to the extracellular matrix and hold the vessels open when the pressure rises in the interstitial tissue (Witte et al., 1997). Lymphatic vessels possess an intrinsic contractility and larger vessels have smooth muscle cell coverage which helps to pump the lymph fluid forward. The lymph flow is also sustained by arterial pulsation and skeletal muscle movements while the luminal valves prevent backflow (Witte et al., 1997).

During development, the lymphatic vessels arise after the establisment of the blood circulatory system. In the early 20th century, Florence Sabin described the growth of lymphatic vessels by centrifugal sprouting from the lymph sacs which are formed in the vicinity of veins at specific areas in embryos (Sabin, 1902; Sabin, 1909). More recently gathered molecular biological data support Sabin's theory of the venous origin of lymphatic vessels (Dumont et al., 1998; Wigle et al., 2002; Wigle and Oliver, 1999). A homeobox transcription factor Prox-1 has an important role in the formation of the lymph sacs by endothelial cell sprouting from the veins. At the stage when lymphatic development starts Prox-1 is expressed in a subpopulation of endothelial cells which migrate from the anterior cardinal vein and give rise to lymphatic endothelial cells (Wigle and Oliver, 1999; Fig.2). Targeted inactivation of Prox-1 leads to the arrest of this budding and, as a result the Prox-1^{-/-} embryos do not develop lymphatic vessels whereas blood vessel development is not affected (Wigle and Oliver, 1999).

Another theory postulates that the lymphatic endothelial cells are derived from

mesenchymal precursor cells (Huntington and McClure, 1908; Kampmeier, 1912). The recent finding of these precursors, lymphangioblasts, in the embryonic mesenchyme of avians supports this theory (Papoutsi *et al.*, 2001; Schneider *et al.*, 1999). Therefore, at least during embryogenesis both sprouting lymphagiogenesis and the differentiation of mesenchymal cells into lymphatic endothelial cells may contribute to the formation of lymphatic vessels.

2.3. Phylogeny of blood and lymphatic vessels

The complexity of the vascular system increases in the phylogeny of animals. Besides being an interesting subject from an evolutionary point of view, knowledge of the differences and similarities between the vascular systems in different animal species may give insights into the mechanisms of embryonic vascular development in mammals.

When the size of organisms increased during evolution, diffusion was no longer sufficient and a blood circulatory system evolved to provide transportation of nutrients, oxygen and waste products. In invertebrates, the endothelial cells are often widely separated from each other and the permeability of vessels is limited by the pericyte layer surrounding the endothelium while the reverse occurs in vertebrates (Casley-Smith, 1987). Also, in the more primitive chordates the endothelial cells of the smallest vessels are separated by gaps and only the larger and the central vessels have continuous endothelium as in mammals. Fenestated endothelium, which allows local exhange of fluid and macromolecules, appears first in hagfish (Casley-Smith, 1987). More commonly the fenestrated endothelium occurs in elasmobrances, where it is responsible for the uptake of lipoproteins in the gut and therefore it carries out some

functions similar to those of the mammalian lymphatic endothelium.

When animals became even larger and more active, increased blood pressure was required to push blood throughout the body. To prevent rupture of the vessels by the high pressure, capillaries became surrounded by a basement membrane and larger blood vessels by elastic tissue and muscle. In parallel with increased blood pressure more protein and fluid leaked out to the tissues and there was a need for the lymphatic vasculature to develop. Teleost fish have two circulatory systems, primary and secondary circulation. The primary and secondary arteries of these fish are directly connected via interarterial anastomoses, which prevent the entry of red blood cells into the secondary circulation but allow the white blood cells and plasma proteins to enter (Steffensen and Lomholt, 1992). While it is not generally accepted whether the secondary circulation of teleost fish can be considered a real lymphatic vasculature, well-developed lymphatic vessels are detected in amphibians (Kotani, 1990; Vogel, 1985). In tailless amphibians, such as frogs, the lymphatic vessels however perform specialised function. The large subcutaneous lymph sacs are involved in maintaining body temperature and act as a water store in certain species. Both in amphibians and reptiles, the aorta runs inside a lymph sinus equivalent to the mammalian thoracic duct (Kotani, 1990). In higher vertebrates, such as birds and mammals, the lymphatic vessels may envelope and run parallel to the blood vessels, but never enclose them.

Interestingly, small venous vessels of the elasmobranchs have openable interendothelial structures, a discontinuous basement membrane and connective tissue fibrils attached to the endothelial cells; in other words they resemble lymphatic vessels of higher vertebrates. The functions of the lymphatic vessels is presumably performed in these animals by the openable endothelial intercellular junctions of venous capillaries which are opened by swimming activity (Casley-Smith, 1987). Therefore, similarly to mammalian embryonic development, the veins may have preceeded lymphatic vessels also in evolution.

2.4. Molecular identity of lymphatic versus blood vascular endothelial cells

In addition to neovascularisation, the endothelium has a variety of other important functions e.g. in regulating the vascular tone, maintaining the blood-brain barrier and in inflammatory responses. For example, endothelial cells recruit leukocytes to the inflammatory foci and specialized endothelial cells are responsible for the homing of lymphocytes to the secondary lymphoid organs (Biedermann, 2001). Reflecting the functional diversity, the antigenic profile of the vascular endothelium varies in different types of vessels and in different organs.

In clinical studies pan-endothelial cell markers serve as important tools for the histochemical identification of vessels. For example, the platelet-endothelial cell adhesion molecule (PECAM-1/CD31) and von Willebrand Factor are molecules which are relatively commonly expressed in all endothelial cells (Sleeman et al., 2001; Table I). In studies of a number of physiological as well as pathological conditions it is also important to discriminate between blood and lymphatic vessels. Only quite recently, lymphatic endothelial cell markers have been identified. These lymphatic endothelium specific molecules include VEGFR-3 receptor tyrosine kinase, the Prox-1 transcription factor and the membrane mucoprotein podoplanin (Breiteneder-Geleff et al., 1999; Jussila et al., 1998; Wigle and Oliver, 1999; Table I). None of these molecules is specific for endothelial cells and on the other hand, they may be expressed

only in a subset of the lymphatic vessels. In addition, the function of many of these molecules in lymphatic endothelial cell biology remains to be characterised. However, identification of the lymphatic markers has enabled the detailed studies of lymphatic vessels and provided important information of the functional properties of lymphatic endothelial cells and of the coordinated development and growth of the blood and lymphatic vasculatures.

Table I. Examples of endothelial cell markers

Antigen	\mathbf{EC}^1	Function/molecular identity	Reference
PECAM-1/CD31	Р	adhesion molecule	
CD34	B,(L)	adhesion molecule	
von Willebrand Factor	B,(L)	platelet adhesion	
PAL-E	В	antigen unknown	(Schlingemann <i>et al.</i> , 1985)
VEGFR-3	L	receptor tyrosine kinase	(Jussila et al., 1998)
LYVE-1	L	lymphatic hyaluronan receptor	(Banerji et al., 1999)
Prox-1	L	homeobox transcription factor	(Wigle and Oliver, 1999)
Desmoplakin I and II	L	intercellular adherens junction molecule	(Ebata et al., 2001)
Podoplanin	L	integral membrane protein	(Breiteneder-Geleff et al., 1999)
D6	L	β-chemokine receptor	(Nibbs et al., 2001)
Macrophage mannose receptor I	L	endocytotic/phagocytotic receptor in macrophages	(Irjala <i>et al.</i> , 2001)

¹ Endothelial cell (EC) expression; P=panendothelial, B=blood vessel endothelial, L=lymphatic endothelial

3. Molecular regulation of vascular development

3.1. Angiogenic and lymphangiogenic factors

Angiogenesis is a multistep process controlled by an interplay between stimulators and inhibitors. Many angiogenic factors have been identified by a variety of *in vivo* systems, including chorioallantoic membrane and rabbit corneal assays, and subsequently their effects on the different steps of angiogenesis have been dissected using *in vitro* systems. Angiogenic factors can act directly by stimulating endothelial cells and/or indirectly by stimulating accessory cells such as macrophages and

14

stromal cells. For example, transforming growth factor-ß (TGF-ß) and EGF mediate angiogenic effects indirectly by stimulating other cells to produce angiogenic factors (Goldman *et al.*, 1993; Pertovaara *et al.*, 1994). Due to the indirect action, candidate angiogenic factors may have opposite actions *in vitro* to that expected from *in vivo* experiments and vice versa. For example, TGF-ß inhibits endothelial cell growth *in vitro* but stimulates angiogenesis *in vivo*. Many of the important polypeptides involved in vascular development have mitogenic and chemotactic activity towards several cell types. These factors include for example platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) and one of the most potent angiogenic factor, FGF. However, some factors, such as VEGF and Angiopoietins target endothelial cells since their receptors are expressed relatively specifically on these cells.

3.1.1. VEGF family of growth factors

VEGFs form a family of secreted glycoproteins which have the characteristic cystine knot growth factor domain common in the PDGF/VEGF superfamily. VEGFs are disulphide-linked or non-covalent dimers in an antiparallel orientation. Presently, five known members of the VEGF-family have been identified: VEGF, placenta growth factor (PIGF), VEGF-B, VEGF-C and VEGF-D (reviewed in Veikkola *et al.*, 2000). All VEGFs have unique but overlapping patterns of expression and binding to the VEGF receptor tyrosine kinases and neuropilin co-receptors (Fig. 3).

VEGF is one of the most important regulators of both physiological and pathological angiogenesis. It was first isolated from tumor cells due to its ability to induce vascular permeability (Senger et al., 1983). Subsequently, VEGF has been shown to stimulate endothelial cell proliferation, migration and survival (reviewed in (Ferrara, 1999). VEGF is indispensable for embryonic development, since inactivation of even one VEGF allele results in embryonic lethality at E11-12 in mice due to failure to establish a normal blood vascular system (Carmeliet et al., 1996; Ferrara et al., 1996). Even during postnatal growth and development, VEGF continues to be critical and its withdrawal results in endothelial cell apoptosis and inhibition of angiogenesis leading to blood vessel regression (Aiello et al., 1995; Ferrara et al., 1998; Gerber et al., 1999a). However, after blood vessel maturation via the recruitment of pericytes endothelial cells are no longer dependent on VEGF for their survival (Benjamin et al., 1998). VEGF is expressed as several different spliceisoforms, which appear to have unique biological properties and tissue-specific expression patterns (Carmeliet et al., 1999b; Robinson and Stringer, 2001). The activity of VEGF is mediated via two high-affinity receptor tyrosine kinases, VEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2, which are expressed primarily on endothelial cells. However, six spliceisoforms of VEGF display differential binding to various coreceptors including heparan sulphate proteoglycans and neuropilin-1 and -2, which modulate their biological activities (Gluzman-Poltorak et al., 2000; Keyt et al., 1996; Soker et al., 1998).

Placenta growth factor (PlGF) and VEGF-B (or VEGF-related factor, VRF) are both expressed as two splice-isoforms (Hauser and Weich, 1993; Maglione et al., 1993; Olofsson et al., 1996b). Both PIGF and VEGF-B bind to VEGFR-1 (Olofsson et al., 1998; Terman et al., 1994) and NRP-1 (Makinen et al., 1999; Migdal et al., 1998), and they can form heterodimers with VEGF (DiSalvo et al., 1995; Olofsson et al., 1996a). The biological functions of PIGF and VEGF-B have remained largely unknown and there is some controversy regarding whether they are angiogenic or not. Both have been reported to stimulate mitogenicity of endothelial cells (Landgren et al., 1998; Maglione et al., 1991; Olofsson et al., 1996a; Sawano et al., 1996). Furthermore, in some studies PIGF was shown to be angiogenic in vivo (Ziche et al., 1997), while in others no such effects were detected (Cao et al., 1996; Oh et al., 1997). Several laboratories have also found that PIGF induces migration of VEGFR-1 expressing cells, including monocytes and endothelial cells (Clauss et al., 1996; Migdal et al., 1998; Ziche et al., 1997). PIGF and VEGF-B are not required for the normal vascular development of mouse embryos (Aase et al., 2001; Carmeliet et al., 2001). However, the absence of PIGF

reduced angiogenesis and collateral growth in pathological conditions (Carmeliet *et al.*, 2001). Furthermore, VEGF-B deficient mice may have impaired recovery from cardiac ischemia (Bellomo *et al.*, 2000). These results suggest that both factors may have an important role in regulating angiogenesis in pathological situations.



Figure 3. VEGF family of growth factors and their binding to VEGF receptor tyrosine kinases (VEGFRs) and Neuropilins (NRPs). Circle = immunoglobulin homology domain; black box=tyrosine kinase domain; S-S= disulphide bond; oval=CUB (complement binding) domain; gray box=coagulation factor V/VIII homology domain; hexagon= MAM (meprin, A5) domain.

VEGF-C (or VEGF-related protein, VRP) and VEGF-D (or *c-fos*-induced growth factor, FIGF) are expressed as preproproteins which are proteolytically processed into polypeptides with increasing affinity towards VEGFR-3, and only their fully processed forms can bind to and activate VEGFR-2 (Joukov et al., 1997; Stacker et al., 1999). However, although human VEGF-D is a ligand for both VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3, mouse VEGF-D binds selectively to VEGFR-3 (Baldwin et al., 2001). During embryonic development VEGF-C is expressed in the mesenchyme surrounding the developing lymphatic vessels, which suggested its possible role in the regulation of lymphangiogenesis (Kukk et al., 1996). Subsequently, both VEGF-C and VEGF-D

were shown to induce lymphatic growth in vivo (Jeltsch et al., 1997; Oh et al., 1997; Veikkola et al., 2001) and induce proliferation and migration of lymphatic endothelial cells in vitro (Marconcini et al., 1999; Mäkinen et al., 2001b). At higher concentrations and under specific conditions, these factors can also stimulate the proliferation and migration of blood vascular endothelial cells, increase vascular permeability and angiogenesis (Joukov et al., 1997; Mäkinen et al., 2001b; Oh et al., 1997; Witzenbichler et al., 1998). The VEGF-C/D induced effects on blood vessel endothelium are presumably mediated via VEGFR-2 activation, suggesting an important role for specific proteolytic enzymes in regulating the

lymphangiogenic versus angiogenic potential of VEGF-C and VEGF-D.

Additional VEGF-like molecules have been isolated from Orf-virus (Lyttle et al., 1994) and from snake venom (Gasmi et al., 2000; Komori et al., 1999). The doublestranded poxvirus Orf infects sheep and goats and induces proliferation of vascular endothelial cells and dilation of blood vessels (Lyttle et al., 1994). The VEGF-like polypeptides encoded by the genomes of three viral strains, NZ2, NZ7 and D1701, were commonly named as VEGF-E, and these polypeptides were found to induce angiogenesis and microvessel permeability by activating mammalian VEGFR-2 (Meyer et al., 1999; Ogawa et al., 1998; Wise et al., 1999). Most probably the VEGF-like sequences found in the genomes of these viruses was acquired from the host and the gene product is responsible for the angiogenic stimulus associated with the infection.

3.1.2. Angiopoietin family

Angiopoietins form another family of growth factors which specifically target endothelial cells. Angiopoietin-1 (Ang-1) and Ang-2 are ligands for the endothelial cell receptor tyrosine kinase Tie-2/Tek (Davis et al., 1997; Maisonpierre et al., 1997). In addition, mouse Ang-3 and human Ang-4, which represent interspecies orthologues, bind to Tie-2 (Valenzuela et al., 1999). Interestingly, these ligands have opposing actions in Tie-2 function; Ang-1 and Ang-4 function as activating ligands for Tie-2 while Ang-2 and Ang-3 act as competitive antagonists. The data from several mouse models with altered Tie-2 signaling suggest that Tie-2 stimulation by Ang-1 is required for the stabilisation of the vessels and for the maintenance of the interactions between the endothelium and surrounding extracellular matrix and mesenchyme (Sato et al., 1995; Suri et al.,

1997; Suri *et al.*, 1998). In contrast, inhibition of Tie-2 signaling by Ang-2 destabilises the vessels by loosening the endothelial cellmatrix contacts and making the cells accessible and more responsive towards angiogenic stimuli (Maisonpierre *et al.*, 1997). Consistent with these observations, Ang-2 expression in adult organisms is found in tissues which undergo angiogenesis; e.g. in placenta and in tumors (Etoh *et al.*, 2001; Goldman-Wohl *et al.*, 2000; Koga *et al.*, 2001).

Recent studies indicate a significant interplay between Angiopoietins and VEGFs in the formation of both blood and lymphatic vessels. Low VEGF levels combined with high expression of Ang-2 lead to vascular regression, while Ang-1 and VEGF may cooperate in promoting angiogenesis. Interestingly, Ang-1 protects the vasculature against VEGF-induced plasma leakage (Thurston et al., 2000: Thurston et al., 1999). On the other hand, Ang-2 may be involved in the regulation of lymphangiogenesis, since inactivation of Ang-2 leads to non-functional and disconnected lymphatic vessels in mice (G. Thurston, pers. comm.). In addition, both VEGF and VEGF-C increase Ang-2 mRNA in endothelial cells (Mandriota and Pepper, 1998; Oh et al., 1999; Veikkola et al., unpublished observations).

3.2. Endothelial cell receptors

3.2.1. VEGF receptors

The three members of the family of VEGF receptor tyrosine kinases (VEGFR-1-3) are key regulators of the development and maintenance of the vertebrate vascular system. All VEGFRs have an extracellular ligand-binding domain consisting of seven immunoglobulin homology domains and an intracellular kinase domain split by a kinase insert (See Fig. 3).

VEGFR-1 (or Flt-1) functions as a receptor for VEGF, PIGF and VEGF-B. In addition to the full-length receptor, alternative splicing of the VEGFR-1 mRNA generates a soluble form of the receptor, which may antagonise VEGF function (Kendall and Thomas, 1993). During embryogenesis, targeted inactivation of VEGFR-1 results in disorganization of blood vessels due to increased production of endothelial cells and death of mouse embryos in utero at E8.5 (Fong et al., 1999; Fong et al., 1995). In contrast, mice expressing VEGFR-1 lacking the tyrosine kinase domain survive and develop a normal vascular system (Hiratsuka et al., 1998). These studies suggest that during development VEGFR-1 may function only as a non-signaling regulator of VEGF bioavailability (Shibuya, 2001). However, recent studies have provided evidence that during adult life VEGFR-1 signaling may play an important role in pathological angiogenesis and inflammation (Carmeliet et al., 2001; P. Carmeliet, pers. comm.). VEGFR-1 specific ligand PIGF can stimulate angiogenesis and collateral growth in ischemic heart and limb muscle. Furthermore, inhibition of VEGFR-1 signaling impairs infiltration of VEGFR-1 expressing leucocytes in inflamed tissues and suppresses mobilisation of bone-marrow derived myeloid progenitor cells, resulting in reduced bone and cartilage destruction in arthritis (P. Carmeliet, pers. comm.). Recruitment and migration of endothelial progenitors and hematopoietic stem cells from the bone marrow has been previously shown to promote pathological angiogenesis (Lyden et al., 2001).

VEGFR-1 has also been suggested to regulate VEGFR-2 signaling by forming heterodimers with it, although it seems to be unclear whether VEGFR-1 acts by antagonising VEGFR-2 functions (Rahimi *et al.*, 2000) or by mediating positive signals by such heterodimers (Huang *et al.*, 2001; P. Carmeliet, pers. comm.).

VEGFR-2 (or KDR/Flk-1) is considered to be the main signal transducing VEGF receptor for angiogenesis and for mitogenesis of endothelial cells. In addition to VEGF, the proteolytically processed mature forms of VEGF-C and VEGF-D bind to and activate VEGFR-2 (Achen et al., 1998; Joukov et al., 1997). Activation of VEGFR-2 stimulates endothelial cell proliferation. migration and survival as well as blood vessel permeability. Several intracellular signal transduction pathways are activated via VEGFR-2, including the MAPK and the PI3kinase pathways (reviewed in Matsumoto and Claesson-Welsh, 2001; Petrova et al., 1999). Mouse embryos deficient of VEGFR-2 die in utero by E8.5-9.5 due to defective development of both endothelial and hematopoietic cells (Shalaby et al., 1995). Although the hematopoietic/endothelial progenitor cells are found in VEGFR-2 deficient embryos at E7.5, these cells fail to migrate from the primitive streak to their correct location in the yolk sac, where further development into the hematopoietic and endothelial cell lineages takes place (Shalaby et al., 1997). In addition, VEGFR-2^{-/-} embryonic stem cells retain the potential to form blood islands and to differentiate into hematopoietic and endothelial cells in vitro (Schuh et al., 1999; Shalaby et al., 1997). Therefore it seems that the formation of hematopoietic/endothelial cell precursors occurs in the absense of VEGFR-2, but the proper migration of these cells is dependent on VEGFR-2-mediated signaling (Schuh et al., 1999; Shalaby et al., 1997).

VEGFR-3 (or Flt4) is a receptor for VEGF-C and VEGF-D (Achen *et al.*, 1998; Joukov *et al.*, 1997). Human VEGFR-3 is expressed as two isoforms generated by differential splicing to the long terminal repeat of an integrated endogenous retrovirus between the last two exons (Hughes, 2001). The shorter transcript encodes a protein lacking 65 amino acids in the C-terminus. including three putative phosphorylated tyrosine residues which may be important for VEGFR-3 mediated signaling (Pajusola et al., 1993). During early vascular development, VEGFR-3 is expressed in developing blood vessels and it is required for normal vascular development. In the absense of VEGFR-3, the embryos undergo normal vasculogenesis, but the remodelling and maturation of primary vascular networks is defective. which leads to death in utero around E10 of mouse development (Dumont et al., 1998). However, after the formation of lymphatic vessels VEGFR-3 is detected almost exclusively on lymphatic endothelium (Dumont et al., 1998; Kaipainen et al., 1995) and it regulates the development and growth of lymphatic vessels (Jeltsch et al., 1997; Mäkinen et al., 2001a; Veikkola et al., 2001). Besides lymphatic endothelia, in adult tissues VEGFR-3 expression occurs also in fenestrated endothelia (Partanen et al., 2000), and in the endothelia of angiogenic blood vessels in tumors (Partanen et al., 1999; Valtola et al., 1999).

3.2.2. Tie receptors

Tie-1/Tie and Tie-2/Tek form another family of endothelial cell specific receptor tyrosine kinases. These receptors have a large extracellular domain consisting of epidermal growth factor homology domains, immunoglobulin-homology domains and fibronectin type III repeats. While several Angiopoietin ligands have been identified for Tie-2, Tie-1 is still an orphan receptor with no known ligands.

Gene inactivation studies have indicated that both Tie receptors have a critical function in the formation of embryonic blood vasculature. Mouse embryos deficient of *Tie-1* gene die between E13.5–P0 due to failure in the establisment of endothelial cell integrity which leads to edema and haemorrages (Puri et al., 1995; Sato et al., 1995). On the other hand, Tie-2 knock-out embryos die due to cardiovascular defects and to defects in the expansion and maintenance of the primitive capillary plexus (Sato et al., 1995). The genetic studies suggest that Tie-1 and Tie-2 are required for the survival of endothelial cells starting from late gestation throughout adult life (Jones et al., 2001; Partanen et al., 1996; Puri et al., 1999). Consistent with these findings, both Tie-1 and Tie-2 can activate signal transduction pathways which promote cell survival (Haves et al., 1999: Kontos et al., 2002; Kontos et al., 1998; Papapetropoulos et al., 2000).

Angiopoietin-Tie-2 signaling may also have a role in the regulation of endothelial cell-pericyte interactions. Activating mutations of Tie-2 have been detected in human patients having venous malformations (Vikkula *et al.*, 1996). These lesions are characterised by enlarged blood vessels with a lack of supporting smooth muscle cells (Vikkula *et al.*, 1996).

3.2.3. Neuropilins

Neuropilin-1 (NRP-1) and NRP-2 are transmembrane non-tyrosine kinase receptors expressed in the tips of growing axons (Chen et al., 1997; Kawakami et al., 1996; Takagi et al., 1995). NRP-1 interacts with receptors belonging to the plexin family and these receptor complexes mediate repulsive axon guidance by binding semaphorins/collapsins (Tamagnone et al., 1999). Both NRP-1 and NRP-2 are, however, expressed also in endothelial cells (Herzog et al., 2001; Kitsukawa et al., 1995; Soker et al., 1998). While NRP-1 is expressed mainly in arterial endothelium (Moyon et al., 2001), NRP-2 appeares to be expressed in the endothelia of embryonic veins and in adult tissues in some

lymphatic vessels (Herzog *et al.*, 2001; Karkkainen *et al.*, 2001).

Overexpression or inactivation of NRP-1 in mouse embryos lead to lethal abnormalities in both nervous and vascular tissues (Kawasaki et al., 1999; Kitsukawa et al., 1997; Kitsukawa et al., 1995). In contrast, NRP-2 deficient mice are viable but they have an abnormal organization and fasciculation of several cranial and spinal nerves (Chen et al., 2000; Giger et al., 2000). Both NRP-1 and NRP-2 act as receptors for several members of the VEGF family (Neufeld et al., 2002; Fig. 3), suggesting that the vascular defects in the NRP-1 mutant mice may result from modulation of the VEGF-induced angiogenesis by abnormal NRP-1 levels. It seems that NRPs regulate signal transduction by VEGFRs through formation of receptor complexes (Fuh et al., 2000; Gluzman-Poltorak et al., 2001; Whitaker et al., 2001). It was also shown that NRP-1 enhances the VEGF-induced mitogenic signal of VEGFR-2 (Soker et al., 1998) and that VEGFR-2 is not able to efficiently transduce VEGF-mediated signals in the absence of NRP-1 (Yamada et al., 2001).

In neurons, NRP-1 ligand Sema3A induces growth cone collapse and repulsion of neurites, and during prolonged exposure, it promotes apoptosis. Interestingly, in neuroectodermal progenitor cells the repulsive signals of Sema3A depended on the expression of VEGFR-1 (Bagnard et al., 2001). Furthermore, Sema3A-induced apoptosis of neuroectodermal progenitor cells was antagonised by VEGF₁₆₅ which promoted cell survival, migration, and proliferation (Bagnard et al., 2001). Similarly in endothelial cells Sema3A acts as a competitive inhibitor of VEGF-induced motility and capillary sprouting (Miao et al., 1999). These studies indicate that the balance between Semaphorins and VEGFs can modulate the migration, survival and proliferation of neural progenitor cells as well as endothelial cells through shared receptors. NRPs may also induce biological responses of VEGFs in cells which do not express VEGFRs. For example, VEGF was shown to induce tumor cell survival via NRP-1 interaction (Bachelder *et al.*, 2001).

3.3. VEGFs and VEGFRs in the development of other organ systems

Several studies have pointed out striking similarities in the molecular mechanisms which control the development of the vascular and nervous systems. Several axon guidance molecules have proved to be also regulators of angiogenesis. These molecules include for example Neuropilins and Semaphorins. In addition, Eph receptors and their ligands, Ephrins, are expressed both in neural and endothelial cells and some of these molecules are indispensable for the development of both vascular and nervous systems (Adams et al., 1999). These observations raise questions whether the angiogenesis regulators VEGFs and VEGFRs might also have a role in the development of the nervous system.

To date, little data is available on the involvement of VEGFs and VEGFRs in neural development. Both VEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2 have been reported to occur in neural cells, including retinal cells, Schwann cells, dorsal root ganglia and astrocytes in the central nervous system (Jin et al., 2000; Krum and Rosenstein, 1998; Sondell et al., 1999; Suzuma et al., 1998). In addition, during embryonic development VEGFR-3 is expressed in the notochord (Partanen et al., 2000; Wilting et al., 1997). Furthermore, VEGFR-3 deficient embryos appear to have a neuronal phenotype which may be caused by impaired survival of cells in the developing neural tube (unpublished observations). Recently, VEGF was reported to be a survival factor for neuronal cells (Jin et al.,

2000; Oosthuyse *et al.*, 2001; Sondell *et al.*, 1999; Sondell *et al.*, 2000) and VEGF-C may possess a similar function (Olofsson *et al.*, submitted). Although these functions were suggested to be at least partly due to NRP-1 interactions, involvement of VEGFRs was also proposed.

VEGF and its receptors are involved also in the regulation of endochondral ossification. Blocking of VEGF function inhibits blood vessel invasion into the hypertrophic zone of long bone growth plates and results in impaired bone formation (Gerber *et al.*, 1999b). VEGF may, however, regulate bone formation also through a direct effect on osteoblasts, which express both VEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2 (Deckers *et al.*, 2000). VEGF induces the migration and increases alkaline phosphatase activity in cultured osteoblasts *in vitro* (Mayr-wohlfart *et al.*, 2002; Midy and Plouet, 1994). Furthermore, VEGF appears to be required for normal chondrocyte maturation and regulation of osteoblastic activities *in vivo* (Zelzer *et al.*, 2002).

Indirectly, VEGFs and their receptors may control organ morphogenesis. Recent studies indicated that prior to their vascular function endothelial cells and nascent vessels can guide the early development of the liver and pancreas (Lammert *et al.*, 2001; Matsumoto *et al.*, 2001). In the absence of endothelial cells the outgrowth of the liver bud was inhibited (Matsumoto *et al.*, 2001). On the other hand, endothelial cells secrete factors which induce embryonic endoderm to differentiate into pancreas, suggesting that vessels can provide inductive signals for organ development (Lammert *et al.*, 2001).

4. Pathologic conditions involving blood and lymphatic vessels

The pathophysiology of several diseases is affected by insufficient or excessive angiogenesis and/or lymphagiogenesis. For example, the chronic inflammation in rheumatoid arthritis is sustained due to excessesive angiogenesis, caused by production of angiogenic factors from infiltrating macrophages and inflammatory cells. On the other hand, duodenal ulcers are devoid of vessels and stimulation of angiogenesis might be a strategy to accelerate their healing. Since blood and/or lympatic vessels have a central role in a number of pathological conditions, the ability to control their growth could provide strategies for the treatment of such diseases.

4.1. Tumor development and progression

Tumor cells are often undifferentiated cells which overexpress several growth factors and growth factor receptors and can stimulate their own growth. Tumor cells also secrete angiogenic factors, such as VEGF, and thus they can induce the growth of blood vessels. In order to grow larger than a few millimeters in diameter the newly formed vessels are needed to provide nutrients and oxygen for tumor cells (Folkman, 1996). Therefore, the tumor-induced stimulation of blood vessel growth is considered to play a critical role in controlling tumor growth.

Metastasis of tumor cells by direct invasion or via blood or lymphatic vessels is one of the leading causes of death in cancer patients (Plate, 2001). Although hematogenous metastasis via blood vessels is well recognised, for many tumors the most common pathway for metastatic spread is via lymphatic vessels. In addition, the lymphatic spread of tumor cells to regional lymph nodes is an indicator of tumor aggressiveness. In general, it is thought that high interstitial pressure inside the tumor prevents the growth of lymphatic vessels into the tumor cell mass (Carmeliet and Jain, 2000). However, the studies of the involvement of the lymphatic vessels in tumor growth were hampered for a long time due to absence of specific markers of lymphatic endothelium.

Several experimental studies have recently demonstrated an important role for lymphatic vessels as a route for tumor metastasis. Overexpression of the VEGFR-3 ligands, VEGF-C or VEGF-D, by tumor cells induced lymphangiogenesis in the tumor periphery, but also intralymphatic tumor growth and metastasis. These studies were done using transfected cells (Karpanen et al., 2001; Skobe et al., 2001; Stacker et al., 2001) or transgenic mice (Mandriota et al., 2001), but correlation of VEGF-C expression with increased lymphatic metastasis has also been reported in several human cancers (Ohta et al., 1999; Tsurusaki et al., 1999; Yonemura et al., 1999). In addition, when highly metastatic tumor cells were selected from a human cancer cell line, those cell clones which displayed high metastatic potential expressed VEGF-C although the parental cell line did not (He et al., 2002). These studies suggest that VEGF-C or VEGF-D secreting tumors can activate the growth of lymphatic vessels which may then facilitate metastasis of tumor cells.

Inhibition of tumor angiogenesis is considered to be one of the most promising therapeutic strategies to inhibit tumor growth. Presumably anti-angiogenic therapies can act on any tumor type, do not induce tumor cell resistance and should not affect normal tissues (Plate, 2001). Since VEGFs and their receptors are major regulators of both angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis, they are excellent targets for cancer therapy. Dominant-negative VEGFR-2, neutralising VEGF antibodies or soluble VEGFR-1 or VEGFR-2 proteins have been successfully used in the inhibition of tumor angiogenesis and growth in mouse models (Goldman *et al.*, 1998; Kong *et al.*, 1998; Lin *et al.*, 1998a; Millauer *et al.*, 1994; Takayama *et al.*, 2000). On the other hand, tumor lymphagiogenesis and metastasis were inhibited by blocking VEGF-C or VEGF-D actions with neutralising antibodies or soluble VEGFR-3 protein (He *et al.*, 2002; Karpanen *et al.*, 2001; Stacker *et al.*, 2001).

Another promising strategy for cancer therapy is to target drugs specifically to tumors. Selective expression of certain molecules in tumor vasculature has allowed the isolation of peptides that specifically recognise the tumor blood vessels. When linked to chemoterapeutic drugs these peptides can facilitate efficient drug delivery into the tumor and thus reduce the toxicity of the drug to other tissues (Arap et al., 1998). The screening of phage-displayed peptide libraries has also allowed the isolation of peptides which selectively home in on the vasculature of individual organs and tissues (Arap et al., 2002; Essler and Ruoslahti, 2002). These peptides may facilitate organspecific drug targeting in a variety of pathological conditions, including cancer.

4.2. Lymphedema

Lymphedema is a disorder characterised by insufficiency of the lymphatic system which leads to accumulation of protein-rich fluid in the tissues and to a disfiguring and disabling swelling of the extremities. Ultimately, the patients also suffer from tissue fibrosis and adipose degeneration, from impaired wound healing and have higher susceptibility to infections (Witte et al., 2001). Noninherited secondary or aquired lymphedema develops when the lymphatic vessels are damaged for example by surgery or radiation therapy or obstructed by filarial infection. In contrast, inherited primary lymphedema is usually due to hypoplasia or aplasia of the superficial or subcutaneous lympatic vessels.

In some families of hereditary lvmphedema heterozygous missense mutations were found in VEGFR-3 gene. All the lymphedema-associated mutations inactivated the tyrosine kinase domain and therefore led to insufficient VEGFR-3 signaling (Irrthum et al., 2000; Karkkainen et al., 2000). However, primary lymphedemas are a heterogenous group of disorders which are also sometimes associated with additional malformations of other organs. In lymphedema distichiasis, characterised by congenital lymphedema, double row of eyelashes and other complications, mutations were reported in the FOXC2 gene. FOXC2 is a forkhead transcription factor, which regulates cardiovascular development and somitogenesis in mice (Winnier et al., 1997: Winnier et al. 1999). Most of the lymphedema-linked FOXC2 mutations cause premature termination in the protein and are likely to produce haploinsufficiency (Bell et al., 2001; Fang et al., 2000; Finegold et al., 2001).

Genetically modified mouse mutants have provided important tools for the studies of molecular mechanisms involved in lymphatic growth and development of lymphedema (Table II). A mouse model for human lymphedema was obtained using Nethyl-N-nitrosourea-induced chemical mutagenesis. Like in human lymphedema, heterozygous mice carrying an inactivating missense mutation in VEGFR-3 gene had hypoplastic dermal lymphatic vessels (Karkkainen et al., 2001). In addition, the mice had leaky intestinal lymphatics, which resulted in accumulation of intraperitoneal chylous fluid after suckling. Since the mice carrying only one functional VEGFR-3 gene allele appeared normal (Dumont et al., 1998) while tyrosine kinase inactivating mutation caused lymphedema, the phenotype was suggested to arise due to a "dominantnegative" effect by the kinase inactive receptor. Despite this, gene therapy using a denoviral VEGF-C induced lymphangiogenesis in the lymphedema mice, suggesting a therapeutic application for human disease (Karkkainen *et al.*, 2001).

We have also evidence that in different mouse backgrounds the reduction of the VEGFR-3 gene dosage is sufficient to cause a lymphedema-like phenotype (unpublished observations). The dependence of the phenotype on the genetic background resembles the observed variability in the penetrance of human lymphedema, and suggests that genes modulating either VEGFR-3 activated or other vet uncharacterised signaling pathways may significantly contribute to the development of the disease. Similar background-dependent lymphatic phenotypes, determined by accumulation of chylous ascites, have been previously observed in mice deficient of Prox-1 (Wigle and Oliver, 1999), Ang-2 (G. Thurston, pers. comm.) or transcription factor Sox18 (Pennisi et al., 2000a; Pennisi et al., 2000b; Table II). In endothelial cells, Sox18 interacts with a MADS-family transcription factor MEF2C which potentiates its transcriptional activity (Hosking et al., 2001). Interestingly, targeted mutagenesis of MEF2C leads to a similar phenotype as observed in VEGFR-3 deficient mice. MEF2C deficient embryos die at E9.5-10 due to defects in the remodeling of the primary vasculature and abnormal endocardiogenesis (Bi et al., 1999; Lin et al., 1998b). While the endocardial defects may be caused by significant decrease in Ang-1 and VEGF expression in the myocardium (Bi et al., 1999), decreased VEGFR-3 expression may contribute to the failure in vascular remodeling. In line with this hypothesis, VEGFR-3 promoter region contains a conserved binding motif for MEF2 (Iljin et al., 2001). In conclusion, both Sox18 and MEF2C may participate in a common transcriptional program involved in the development of the lymphatic vasculature.

Table II. Mouse mutants having a lymphatic phenotype

	Mouse			
Gene	model ¹	Lymphatic phenotype	Lethality ²	Reference
Prox-1	КО	Defective lymphatic sprouting and differentiation (-/-)	E14.5	Wigle and Oliver, 1999
		Accumulation of chylous ascites (+/-)	P2-3	
Integrin α9	КО	Chylothorax (-/-)	P6-12	Huang et al., 2000
Ang-2	КО	Disconnected lymphatic vessels, accumulation of chylous ascites		G. Thurston, pers. comm.
VEGFR-3	Mut (kinase dead)	Accumulation of chylous ascites, hypoplasia of dermal lymphatic vessels (+/mut)	viable	Karkkainen <i>et al.</i> , 2001
Net transcription factor	Mut (loss of the Ets DNA-binding domain)	Chylothorax (mut/mut)	P2	Ayadi <i>et al.</i> , 2001
Sox18 transcription factor	Mut (truncated transactivation domain)	Accumulation of chylous ascites (mut/mut)	before weaning	Pennisi et al., 2000b
VEGF-C	TG (K14 promoter)	Hyperplasia of dermal lymphatic vessels	viable	Jeltsch et al., 1997
	(Insulin promoter)	Hyperplasia of lymphatic vessels around the islets of Langerhans	viable	Madriota et al., 2001
VEGF-D	TG (K14 promoter)	Hyperplasia of dermal lymphatic vessels	viable	Veikkola et al., 2001
VEGFR-3-Ig (VEGF-C/D "trop")	TG (K14 promoter)	Lack of dermal lymphatic vessels	viable	Mäkinen et al., 2001a

'trap")

¹ KO = knock-out (gene inactivation), Mut = mutagenesis (chemically induced (VEGFR-3) / gene-targeted (Net) / spontaneous (Sox18)), TG = transgenic (gene overexpression)
² E = embryonic day, P = postnatal day

AIMS OF THE STUDY

This study was undertaken to obtain more information concerning the mechanisms of VEGF/VEGFR interactions involved in the regulation of the growth and development of blood and lymphatic vessels. We wanted especially to elucidate the role of VEGFR-3 and its ligands, VEGF-C and VEGF-D, in these processes. To achieve these goals we studied:

- VEGF-B binding to the isoform-specific VEGF receptor, neuropilin-1 (I)

- the role of VEGFR-3 signaling in the development of embryonic blood and lymphatic vessels by using a competitive inhibitor of VEGFR-3-ligand interactions (II)

- VEGFR-3 mediated signal transduction in lymphatic endothelial cells (III)

- the genetic program controlling lymphatic versus blood vascular endothelial phenotype (IV)

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The materials and methods used are described in detail in the respective publications.

Cell line	Description	Source or reference	Used in
293T, 293EBNA	human fibroblast	ATCC	Ι
Ba/F3	mouse pre-B-lymphocytes		II, III
HMVEC	human dermal microvascular EC	PromoCell	III
HUVEC	human umbilical vein EC	PromoCell	III
PAE	porcine aortic EC	Dr. L. Claesson-Welsh	III
S2	Drosophila Schneider S2 cells	Invitrogen	Ι

ATCC – American Type Culture Collection

Growth factor	Description	Source or reference	Used in
bFGF	human basic FGF, FGF-2	R&D Systems	III
PlGF-1	human PIGF-1 splice-isoform	Dr. G. Persico	III
VEGF ₁₂₁	human VEGF 121 splice-isoform	R&D Systems	Ι
VEGF ₁₆₅	human VEGF 165 splice-isoform	R&D Systems	III
VEGF-B ₁₆₇	mouse VEGF-B 167 splice-isoform	Dr. B. Olofsson	Ι
VEGF-C	mature human VEGF-C (residues Thr103-	(Joukov et al., 1997)	II, III
	Leu215)		
VEGF-C156S	Cys156->Ser mutation, mature human	(Joukov et al., 1998)	III
	VEGF-C (residues Thr103-Ile225)		
VEGF-D	mature human VEGF-D (residues Phe93-	R&D Systems	III
	Ser201)		
VEGF-E (ORFV2-	orf-viral VEGF homolog, NZ2 isoform	Dr. L. Wise	III
VEGF)		(Wise et al., 1999)	

Antigen	Description	Source or reference	Used in
Akt	rabbit antiserum against Akt/protein kinase B (aff)	New England Biolabs	III
CD31/PECAM-1	mouse mAb against human CD31	Dako	III, IV
	rat mAb against mouse PECAM-1	Pharmingen	II
CREB	rabbit antiserum against cAMP response element binding protein (aff)	New England Biolabs	III
LYVE-1	rabbit antiserum against mouse LYVE-1	Dr. D.G. Jackson	II
	rabbit antiserum against human LYVE-1	Dr. D.G. Jackson	III
МАРК	rabbit antiserum against p42/p44 MAPK (aff)	New England Biolabs	III
(ERK1/ERK2)		C C	
myc	mouse mAb (9E10) against c-myc epitope	Babco	Ι
NRP-1	rabbit antiserum against mouse NRP-1 (aff)	Dr. H. Fujisawa	Ι
PCNA	mouse mAb (PC10) against proliferating cell	Santa Cruz	III, IV
	nuclear antigen	Biotechnology	
podoplanin	rabbit antiserum against human podoplanin (aff)	Dr. D. Kerjaschki/ H. Kowalski	III
prox-1	rabbit antiserum agains human prox-1	Dr. Jörg Wilting	IV
VEGF	mAb against human VEGF	R&D Systems	Ι
VEGF-B	rabbit antiserum against mouse VEGF-B (aff)	Dr. B. Olofsson	Ι
VEGF-C	rabbit antiserum (882) against human VEGF-C	(Joukov et al., 1996)	Ι
VEGFR-3	mouse mAb against human VEGFR-3		
	9D9F9	(Jussila et al., 1998)	III
	7B8F9		II
	2E11D11		III, IV
	rat mAb against mouse VEGFR-3	Dr. H. Kubo (Kubo <i>et al.</i> , 2000)	II
vWF	mAb against human von Willebrand Factor	Dako	III

Abbreviations: mAb = monoclonal antibody, aff = affinity-purified

Methods	Used in
Adenoviral infection of endothelial cells	IV
Analyses of cell viability and apoptosis	II, III
Annexin-V staining	III
MTT assay	II, III
TUNEL (terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase-mediated dUTP nick-end labeling)	II, III
Analysis of cell migration (Boyden chamber assay)	III
Biosensor analysis of receptor-ligand interaction	III
Cell culture	I-IV
DNA cloning and subcloning	I, II, IV
ELISA (enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay)	I-III
FACS (fluorescence activated cell sorting)	III
Generation of transgenic mice	II
Immunofluorescence	III, IV
Immunohistochemistry	II, IV
Immunoprecipitation	Ι
Isolation of endothelial cells using magnetic cell sorting	III, IV
Lectin perfusion staining	II
Magnetic resonance imaging	II
Metabolic labeling	Ι
Microarray analysis of gene expression	IV
Northern blotting	II-IV
PCR	I, II, IV
Preparation of mouse tissues	II
Receptor stimulation and ligand binding	I, III
RNA extraction	II-IV
RT-PCR	IV
Southern blotting	II
Transfection	Ι
Visualisation of lymphatic vessels in mice (by Dextran and Evans blue dye)	II
Western blotting	I-III
X-Gal staining of tissues	II

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

1. Neuropilin-1 is a receptor for VEGF-B (I)

Neuropilin-1 (NRP-1) controls axon growth and guidance through interactions with Semaphorins. In addition, NRP-1 was shown to act as a receptor for certain splice-isoforms of VEGF and PIGF, and it was speculated to modulate VEGF-induced angiogenesis. Based on the high homology with VEGF and PIGF, we asked whether VEGF-B also binds to NRP-1.

VEGF-B is expressed as two isoforms, VEGF-B₁₆₇ and VEGF-B₁₈₆, which are generated by alternative splicing (Olofsson et al., 1996b). VEGF-B₁₆₇ has a basic, heparin binding C-terminus, by which the protein becomes sequestered to the cell surface after secretion. However, in VEGF- B_{186} an alternative splice acceptor site in exon 6 generates an insertion and frameshift in the coding sequence, giving rise to a different Cterminus and to a soluble, O-glycosylated protein (Olofsson et al., 1996b). The common N-terminal cystine knot growth factor domain of VEGF-B (amino acid residues 1-115) is responsible for binding to VEGFR-1 (Olofsson et al., 1998).

We constructed a soluble neuropilin-1 Ig-fusion protein and used it for the binding studies with metabolically labelled growth factors. In these expriments we found that both splice-isoforms of VEGF-B bind to neuropilin-1 (Makinen et al., 1999; I). Interestingly, only the proteolytically cleaved form of VEGF-B₁₈₆ was able to bind NRP-1. The NRP-1 binding epitopes were different from the VEGFR-1 binding epitopes, and the former were located in the C-termini of the two isoforms. We also found that the binding of VEGF-B₁₆₇ to NRP-1 was mediated by the heparin-binding domain encoded by exon 6B. This domain is highly homologous to the NRP-1 binding epitopes of VEGF₁₆₅ and

PIGF-2. In contrast, the NRP-1 binding of VEGF-B₁₈₆ was regulated by the exposure of a short C-terminal proline rich peptide upon proteolytic processing, which thus constituted a novel NRP-1 binding epitope. The proteolytic processing site was further mapped to Arg-127 with mass-spectrometry and therefore the NRP-1 binding epitope constituted minimally only 12 amino acid residues.

NRP-1 and VEGF-B are co-expressed for example in the myocardial cells of the developing heart and in the smooth muscle cells surrounding blood vessels (Aase *et al.*, 1999; Kitsukawa *et al.*, 1995). In addition, the juxtacrine relationship between NRP-1 in endothelial cells and VEGF-B in the surronding smooth muscle cells suggests that the molecules are used for paracrine communication between these cells.

Because a NRP-1 deletion mutant lacking the intracellular domain can mediate Sema3A-induced growth cone collapse, it was concluded that rather than having a signaling function of its own, NRP-1 functions as a co-receptor for other signal transducing receptor(s) (Nakamura et al., 1998). Indeed, it was found that NRPs form complexes with receptors of the plexin family, plexin-A1 and plexin-A2, which are responsible for mediating chemorepulsion (Rohm et al., 2000; Takahashi et al., 1999a; Tamagnone et al., 1999). Similarly, NRPs regulate signal transduction by VEGFRs through formation of complexes with them (Fuh et al., 2000; Gluzman-Poltorak et al., 2001; Whitaker et al., 2001).

No obvious protein homology domains have been found in the relatively short intracellular domain of NRP-1, which consists of 40 amino acid residues. However, the intracellular domain is highly conserved between species, suggesting importance of this part for NRP-1 function. A PDZ-domain containing protein NIP was shown to interact with NRP-1 intracellular domain (Cai and Reed, 1999). NIP may link NRP-1 with other signaling molecules or with the cytoskeleton, suggesting that NRP-1 has also an intrinsic signaling function.

NRP-1 appears to function also as a cell surface adhesion molecule (Takagi *et al.*, 1995). Interaction with another adhesion molecule, L1-CAM, may be involved in the NRP-1 mediated cell adhesion activity. However, in addition to its adhesive function, L1-CAM modulates Semaphorin signals by forming tripartite complexes with plexins and NRPs (Castellani *et al.*, 2000). Interestingly, L1-CAM has been shown to turn Sema3A

induced repulsion of neuronal growth cones into attraction (Castellani *et al.*, 2000).

In summary, our studies show that NRP-1 functions as a receptor for both spliceisoforms of VEGF-B. Since the biological function(s) of VEGF-B, as well as the VEGFR-1 mediated signaling have remained largely unknown, it has been difficult to define the role of NRP-1 binding in the biology of VEGF-B. However, analogous to VEGF and Semaphorins, VEGF-B may induce biological responses such as cell migration in cells which express NRP-1, but no VEGFRs. NRP-1 may also potentiate the effects of VEGF-B in cells where VEGFR-1 is expressed. Furthermore, competitive interactions between Semaphorins and VEGFs may regulate the biological responses both in endothelial cells and in neurons.

2. VEGFR-3 is required for the development and maintenance of the embryonic lymphatic vasculature (II)

VEGFR-3 is expressed in lymphatic endothelial cells in adult tissues and its ligands were reported to stimulate lymphangiogenesis (Jeltsch *et al.*, 1997; Oh *et al.*, 1997). However, homozygous disruption of *VEGFR-3* led to death of mouse embryos before the emergence of lymphatic vessels and thus these mice did not provide any information on the role of VEGFR-3 in the development of lymphatic vessels (Dumont *et al.*, 1998). In order to address this question, we used a soluble VEGFR-3 as a competitive inhibitor of VEGF-C/VEGFR-3 signaling (Fig. 4).

According to our *in vitro* experiments, a fusion protein consisting of the ligand binding portion of human VEGFR-3 and human IgG1 Fc domain (VEGFR-3-Ig) efficiently inhibited VEGF-C/D binding to their cell surface receptors and blocked VEGFR-3 signaling. To test the inhibitory effect of VEGFR-3-Ig *in vivo*, we generated transgenic mice expressing the fusion protein under the keratin-14 (K14) promoter which directs the transgene expression to the basal epidermal cells of the skin. The K14-driven transgene expression is turned on after the developmental period when lymphatic vessel development has started and VEGFR-3 expression has been downregulated in blood vessels. The late onset of the transgene expression should eliminate the presumably lethal effects of the inhibition of VEGFR-3 signaling on the blood vasculature.

Transgenic K14-VEGFR-3-Ig mice were devoid of dermal lymphatic vessels as evaluated by histochemistry, immunostaining and lack of lymphatic transport of macromolecules injected into the dermis. In contrast, the blood vasculature remained normal, indicating that the inhibition was specific for the lymphatic vessels (Mäkinen *et al.*, 2001a; II).

Neutralising levels of circulating soluble VEGFR-3-Ig protein in the sera of the transgenic mice were also associated with a transient loss of lymphatic vessels in several internal organs of neonatal mice. However, after three weeks of age, partial regeneration of the lymphatic vessels was observed, suggesting that alternative pathways may be involved in mediating the growth of the lymphatic vessels. For example, the maturing extracellular matrix may provide signals for the survival and proliferation of lymphatic endothelial cells, and new lymphatic vessels may grow alongside the existing blood vessels and receive proliferative and chemotactic signals from the blood vessel endothelial cells. Similar results of vessel regeneration have been obtained using adenoviral VEGFR-3-Ig. Adenoviral infection of newborn mouse pups results in the regression of lymphatic vessels, but the vessels regenerate in a few weeks in spite of the high serum levels of the VEGFR-3-Ig protein (Karpanen et al., unpublished observations). However, in adult mice AdVEGFR-3-Ig fails to induce the regression of normal lymphatic vessels (He et al., 2002; Karpanen et al., 2001; Karpanen et al., unpublished observations). These results suggest the existence of a mechanism of lymphatic vessel maturation after which the growth and survival of the vessels may no longer be (totally) dependent on VEGF-C. For the blood vessels, pericyte recruitment acts as a signal for vessel maturation, after which the endothelial cells can survive in the absence of VEGF (Benjamin et al., 1998).



Figure 4. Inhibition of VEGFR-3 signaling by the transgenic expression of a soluble VEGFR-3 Immunoglobulin (Ig)-fusion protein. Visualisation of dermal blood and lymphatic vessels in the wild type and transgenic mice. Inhibition of VEGFR-3 signaling leads to a specific inhibition of lymphangiogenesis.

The absence of dermal lymphatic vessels in the K14-VEGFR-3-Ig mice was associated with fibrosis, increased fluid accumulation in the skin and subcutaneous tissue and swelling of the feet. The phenotype thus resembled human lymphedema, and supported the human studies which demonstrated the deficient VEGFR-3 signaling as the cause of the disease (Irrthum et al., 2000; Karkkainen et al., 2000). Furthermore, as in some cases of lymphedema, the size and appearance of certain lymph nodes varied in the transgenic mice, indicating that lymph flow and a functional lymphatic vasculature are essential for the formation of normal lymph nodes.

The early development of the lymphatic vasculature was not disturbed in the transgenic mice. However, in parallel with significant increase in K14 promoter activity and transgene encoded protein expression, the dermal lymphatic vessels regressed in the transgenic embryos via apoptosis of lymphatic endothelial cells. In conclusion, our results suggest that continuous VEGFR-3 signaling is required not only for the proliferation but also for the survival of the lymphatic endothelial cells and thus for both the development and maintenance of the lymphatic vasculature during embryonic development.

<u>3. VEGFR-3 transduces lymphatic endothelial cell growth, survival and migration signals</u> (III)

As the VEGF receptors are key mediators of angiogenic responses, the signal transduction pathways initiated in endothelial cells upon their activation have been under extensive study. These studies have been mainly carried out using transfected cell lines, but lack of an appropriate cellular background can compromise results obtained from such studies. In addition, little was known of the VEGFR-3 activated signal transduction. In order to clarify these questions, we used a VEGFR-3 specific mutant form of VEGF-C (Joukov *et al.*, 1998) and primary cultures of human dermal microvascular endothelial cells for the studies of VEGFR-3 mediated cellular signaling.



Figure 5. Human dermal microvascular endothelial cells in culture. The lymphatic endothelial cells (stained in red) grow in distinct islands surrounded by blood vascular endothelial cells. The nuclei of all cells have been stained blue.

3.1. Isolation of lymphatic endothelial cells

Based on the expression of three lymphatic endothelial cell specific markers, VEGFR-3, podoplanin and LYVE-1, we found that the microvascular endothelial cell cultures consisted of two lineages of blood vascular and lymphatic endothelial cells (Fig. 5). The lymphatic endothelial cells (LECs) grew in distinct islands surrounded by blood vascular endothelial cells (BECs). We then used antibodies against VEGFR-3 or podoplanin and magnetic microbeads for the separation of BECs and LECs, and maintained the isolated cells in culture (Mäkinen et al., 2001b: III). No interconversion between the cell types was detected in the cultures. In an independent study by Kriehuber et al. (2001) BECs and LECs were separated from dermal cell suspension by flow cytometry using antibodies against podoplanin and CD34 (Kriehuber et al., 2001). In agreement with our results their studies demonstrated that LECs and BECs constitute stable and specialized EC lineages.

The ability to isolate and to culture BECs and LECs allowed us to study the signal transduction pathways of different VEGF receptors in these two cell lineages. Both BECs and LECs expressed VEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2 while VEGFR-3 was mainly detected in LECs. On the other hand, BECs produced VEGF-C and extracellular matrix components (III; Kriehuber *et al.*, 2001; unpublished observations), which were required for the growth and survival of the LECs. We found that VEGFR-3 activation induced survival, migration and proliferation of LECs, while VEGFR-2 stimulated these processes in both cell lineages.

3.2. VEGFR-3 signal transduction

In earlier studies with transfected cells VEGFR-3 has been reported to associate with Grb2, Shc and Sos adaptor proteins (Fournier

et al., 1995; Pajusola et al., 1994; Wang et al.. 1997) and to induce MAPK phosphorylation (Joukov et al., 1998). Shc promotes VEGFR-3 dependent cell proliferation by the activation of the Ras pathway. Other reported substrates for VEGFR-3 include a non-receptor tyrosine kinase Pyk2 (proline-rich kinase 2, also called RAFTK for related adhesion focal tyrosine kinase, CAKB for cell adhesion kinase ß and FAK2 for focal adhesion kinase 2; (Liu et al., 1997; Wang et al., 1997). Pyk2 activates serine kinases ERK and JNK (Jun NH₂-terminal kinase) and phosphorylates the focal adhesion molecule paxillin (Fig. 6). Paxillin phosphorylation then leads to recruitment of actin-anchoring proteins into focal adhesions and to the actin reorganisation which is associated with cell migration. In contrast, Pyk2 induced JNK activation stimulates cellular proliferation via the modulation of transcriptional activation factors such as AP1.

When we studied the basis for the VEGFR-3 transduced survival and migratory signals in primary cultures of endothelial cells, we detected activation of two important signaling molecules which have been associated with cell proliferation and survival; ERK1/ERK2 (p42/p44 MAPK) and Akt.

VEGFR-3 induced MAPK activation was mediated via PKC, not via Ras, similarly to what has been previously shown for VEGFR-2 (Doanes *et al.*, 1999; Takahashi *et al.*, 1999b; Yoshiji *et al.*, 1999). Such a pathway is rather unique among receptor tyrosine kinases since classically PKCdependent MAPK activation was thought to be employed mainly by certain seventransmembrane, G protein-coupled receptors. Although the activation of the p42/p44 MAPK cascade is linked in many cells to a proliferation response, this pathway can also lead to increased cell survival (Bonni *et al.*, 1999; Gupta *et al.*, 1999). VEGFR-3 stimulated phosphorylation of Akt was dependent on PI3-kinase activity. In spite of this, we were not able to detect the association of VEGFR-3 with the regulatory subunit of PI3-kinase, p85. This may indicate that PI3-kinase does not directly bind VEGFR-3 or that the interaction between these molecules is transient.

In addition to VEGFR-3, the LECs also expressed VEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2. Interestingly, VEGFR-2 activation stimulated the proliferation, migration as well as survival of both BECs and LECs, suggesting that VEGF, via VEGFR-2, can regulate signal transduction also in LECs. In addition, even the highest concentrations of the VEGFR-3 specific mutant form of VEGF-C were not as effective as VEGF-C in promoting survival or migration, suggesting that activation of both VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3 may be required for the VEGF-Cinduced maximal responses in LECs. These results suggest that VEGFR-2 may have an important role in the regulation of signal transduction in lymphatic endothelial cells and possibly also in the regulation of lymphangiogenesis *in vivo*.



--> Cell survival, proliferation, negration ...

Figure 6. Tyrosine residues (Y) in the cytoplasmic domain of VEGFR-3 and VEGFR-3 activated intracellular signaling molecules. Dashed line: a direct interaction or activation has not been shown.

4. A genetic program controlling the lymphatic versus blood vascular endothelial cell phenotype (IV)

4.1. Gene expression profiling of lymphatic and blood vascular endothelial cells

Identification of differentially expressed genes between BECs and LECs may provide new potential vascular markers, and also give a better understanding of the structural and functional properties of these cells. After establishing the isolation and culture of BECs and LECs, we addressed the question of the genetic program controlling the identity of these two cell lineages using a gene profiling approach.

For the gene expression studies, we used Affymetrix oligonucleotide microarrays which contain sequences from about 12.000

known genes, i.e approximately 30% of the total number of all predicted human transcripts. We identified ~300 genes which were differentially expressed between the cultured BECs and LECs. The most striking differences were detected in genes which encode for proteins involved in cytoskeletal and cell-cell or cell-matrix interactions as well as in the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines (Petrova et al., submitted, IV; Mäkinen et al., manuscript in preparation). We also identified several genes previously unknown in the context of endothelial cell biology, which were differentially expressed in the two cell lineages. Several such genes have been originally cloned from neural tissues. Our gene expression profiling data therefore support the view (Shima and Mailhos, 2000) that the same molecular mechanisms which are involved during neuronal development may also be commonly used in the development of the vascular system as well as in the establishment of the BEC and LEC identity.

4.2. Adhesion molecules in lymphatic and blood vascular endothelial cells

Integrins are a family of membrane receptors which are important mediators of cell adhesion, migration and survival (Giancotti and Ruoslahti, 1999). Integrins consist of two polypeptides, the α and β subunits. Their ectodomains bind extracellular matrix proteins while the cytoplasmic domains interact with the cytoskeleton and with proteins involved in signal transduction. Integrins can also act synergistically with growth factors and share signaling pathways initiated by RTKs. Integrins can even modulate the activation of RTKs in the absence of their ligands (Miyamoto et al., 1996; Moro et al., 1998; Sundberg and Rubin, 1996). Recently, VEGFR-3 was shown to interact with integrin ß1, and stimulation of β 1 with its ligands fibronectin and collagen induced phosphorylation of VEGFR-3 (Wang *et al.*, 2001). Interaction between VEGFR-3 and integrin β 1 appeared to be also necessary for endothelial cell migration.

In our gene profiling studies we observed a LEC specific expression of integrin α 9, which provides a subunit for the receptor for osteopontin and tenascin. Interestingly, integrin α 9 has been earlier shown to be important for the normal development of the lymphatic system. Mice lacking integrin α 9ß1 develop respiratory failure due to the accumulation of a milky pleural fluid and die after birth (Huang *et al.*, 2000). Therefore, integrin α 9ß1 seems to regulate the development of the lymphatic vasculature, possibly via the interaction with VEGFR-3.

Cadherins are another family of transmembrane adhesion molecules, which mediate the formation of stable cell-cell junctions via homophilic cell adhesion. We found that both BECs and LECs expressed VE-cadherin whereas N-cadherin was expressed exclusively in the BECs. VEcadherin is an important regulator of endothelial cell survival (Carmeliet et al., 1999a). It forms complexes with VEGFR-2 and PI-3 kinase and transmits the VEGFinduced Akt activation (Carmeliet et al., 1999a). Also, association of VEGFR-3 and VE-cadherin was observed in these studies (Carmeliet et al., 1999a). On the other hand, N-cadherin has an important role in mediating endothelial cell-SMC interactions (Gerhardt et al., 2000). Our finding of the BEC-specific expression of N-cadherin is in line with the *in vivo* situation: blood but not lymphatic capillaries are covered by SMCs/pericytes, whose proliferation and migration alongside the blood capillaries is essential for the maturation of the vessels during angiogenic stimulation.

4.3. Prox-1 as a fate determining factor for lymphatic endothelial cells

Homeodomain transcription factors are important regulators of cellular fates and development. Gene targeting studies have demonstrated that Prox-1 homeobox transcription factor has a crucial role in the development of the lymphatic vasculature (Wigle and Oliver, 1999). Therefore we wanted to study the role of Prox-1 in the regulation of BEC and LEC phenotypes.

Prox-1 was found to be expressed specifically in the cultured LECs. However, when introduced into the BECs using adenoviral gene transfer, Prox-1 induced the expression of certain lymphatic specific genes. including VEGFR-3 (IV). Interestingly, Prox-1 overexpression also resulted in the suppression of approximately 40% of the genes characteristic for the BECs. These results suggest the role of Prox-1 as one of the fate determining factors for the LECs. Prox-1 was also capable of inducing the expression of genes associated with Sphase progression, which indicates that Prox-1 may have a function in the regulation of cell proliferation.

These results may help to explain the phenotype observed in the Prox-1 null mice. Targeted disruption of Prox-1 results in the arrest of lymphatic vessel development, whereas development of blood vessels is not affected (Wigle and Oliver, 1999). The first lymphatic sprouts normally bud from the anterior cardinal vein at E10.5, but this

budding is arrested in $Prox-1^{-/-}$ embryos at E11.5. Our results suggest that the default endothelial cell differentiation state in the absence of Prox-1 corresponds to the blood endothelial phenotype and that Prox-1 is required for the establishment of lymphatic endothelial cell identity. Similar conclusions were drawn from a recent study in which the phenotype of *Prox-1^{-/-}* embryos was analysed in more detail (Wigle et al., 2002). Wigle et al. showed that in contrast to the wild type embryos, in $Prox-1^{-/-}$ embryos the endothelial cells that bud off from the cardinal vein at E11.5-E12 did not express lymphatic endothelial cell markers VEGFR-3, LYVE-1 or SLC chemokine. Instead, the mutant cells expressed blood vascular markers laminin and CD34, suggesting that these cells were not committed to the lymphatic endothelial cell lineage in the absence of Prox-1 (Wigle et al., 2002).

Gene targeting also revealed that Prox-1 haploinsufficiency was associated with accumulation of lymphatic chylous fluid and neonatal death, suggesting that the level of Prox-1 is critical for proper lymphatic development (Wigle and Oliver, 1999). We found that Prox-1 upregulates the expression of genes associated with a proliferative phenotype, suggesting that after the differentiation of lymphatic endothelial cells, Prox-1 may be also essential for the maintenance of their proliferation during the development.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Lymphatic vessels are essential for the maintenance of normal fluid balance and immune surveillance but they also provide a pathway for metastasis in many types of cancers. VEGFR-3 was identified as a receptor expressed in the lymphatic endothelium and its ligands, VEGF-C and VEGF-D were reported to induce lymphangiogenesis.

The work presented here demonstrated that VEGFR-3 mediates signals for the survival, migration and proliferation of lymphatic endothelial cells, and these signals are essential for the normal development of lymphatic vessels during embryonic development. Inhibition of VEGFR-3 signaling by using a soluble VEGFR-3 protein resulted in a specific and complete inhibition of lymphangiogenesis in a mouse model. Also in tumor models the soluble VEGFR-3 has been shown to specifically inhibit VEGF-C-induced lymphangiogenesis and tumor spread via lymphatic vessels (Karpanen et al., 2001, He et al., 2002). In cancers which show high lymphogenous metastasis, lymphatic eradication by inhibiting VEGFR-3 signaling may thus provide a novel strategy to inhibit metastasis.

Until now, only few cell lines of lymphatic endothelial cells have been available for molecular biological studies,

and these cells were mainly derived from lymphatic tumours. We showed the isolation and maintenance of primary cultures of dermal blood vascular and lymphatic endothelial cells (BECs and LECs, respectively), which allows now further characterisation of the molecular properties of these cells. Using gene expression profiling, we identified genes which distinguish these two cell lineages, and showed that the homeobox transcription factor Prox-1 is involved in establishing the molecular identity of LECs. Molecular discrimination of the vessels is essential in studies of diseases involving the blood and/or lymphatic vessels and in the targeted treatment of such diseases. Thus the BEC and LEC specific molecules may provide new targets for the treatment of these diseases.

In the future, the next challenges in lymphatic research include the identification of new molecular regulators of lymphangiogenesis. The ability to isolate and to culture LECs facilitate the cloning of novel LEC specific genes the characterisation of which should give us a better understanding of the mechanisms of lymphangiogenesis. The functional analysis of the new lymphangiogenic regulators may also give us novel insights into the pathogenesis of diseases of the lymphatic system.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

These studies were carried out at the Molecular/Cancer Biology Laboratory, Haartman Institute and Biomedicum Helsinki, University of Helsinki during the years 1997-2002.

I wish to thank my supervisor Professor Kari Alitalo for giving me the possibility to join his group and work at the world's leading edge of lymphatic research. It has been a privilege to work in a laboratory with so many opportunities, excellent working facilities and international connections.

I warmly thank all my co-authors for fruitful collaboration. I want to express my special thanks to Birgitta Olofsson and Tanya Petrova for inspiring teamwork and for their delightful enthusiasm for science. It has been a real pleasure to know you and to work with you!

I thank all the former and present members of M/CBL and also all the other people on the 5th floor for their collaboration and for creating a stimulating working atmosphere. I especially want to thank Kristiina Iljin and Eola Valdre for support and friendship both in and outside the lab. Our discussions during the lunch and coffee breaks have been an important source of joy and, when needed, comfort for me. I also thank Terhi Kärpänen, Michael Jeltsch, Yulong He and Marja Lohela for their friendly attitude, discussions and opportunities to exchange ideas. I owe my special thanks to Jussi Taipale, whose extensive knowledge of molecular biology and willingness to teach helped me immensely during my first days in lab, and later on his advice through e-mail were very educative and important when I continued a project he had started.

I am grateful to all the skillfull technicians in our laboratory for their kind help. Special thanks to Mari Helanterä for her excellent work (and refreshing chats!), Tapio Tainola for all his help in numerous practical matters, and Heikki Vuokko for enthusiastic attitude.

I kindly thank Vijay Kumar for revising my English language, and Miia Putkinen and Marja-Leena Saastamoinen for secretarial help.

I thank Heikki Rauvala for all the opportunities and benefits I had as a member of the Helsinki Graduate School of Biotechnology and Molecular Biology. I warmly thank Irma Thesleff and Juha Partanen for their interest towards my work and for their valuable comments and advice when reviewing and improving the manuscript for this thesis as well as when giving me thesis follow-up.

I warmly think back of the time I started my studies of biology. I thank all the people with whom I studied and had carefree and joyful years filled with all sorts of happenings, and all those people who have taught me and made me feel that I had made the right choice. Although I moved to the medical campus, due to my background I'll always believe that the beauty of biology is seen in the light of evolution.

I am thankful to my friends, Marika, Marko, Tiina, Kati and Toni, for many enjoyable moments and good memories. I thank Anne for relaxing riding sessions.

Very special thanks to my parents, Anneli and Risto, my sister, Tytti, and her family for their support and encouragement throughout my life. The memorable times in Ostrobothnia are due to Juha's family, especially Pirjo, Heli and Tapani, for which I thank them.

My dearest thanks belong to Juha for his unselfish support and love. I truly admire his genuine and broad interest in science.

I have been financially supported by the Helsinki Graduate School of Biotechnology and Molecular Biology and by the Finnish Cancer Organisations, Ida Montin Foundation, Emil Aaltonen Foundation and the Finnish Cultural Foundation.

Taija Ma

Helsinki, June 2002

REFERENCES

- Aase, K., Lymboussaki, A., Kaipainen, A., Olofsson, B., Alitalo, K. and Eriksson, U. (1999) Localization of VEGF-B in the mouse embryo suggests a paracrine role of the growth factor in the developing vasculature. *Dev. Dyn.*, 215, 12-25.
- Aase, K., von Euler, G., Li, X., Ponten, A., Thoren, P., Cao, R., Cao, Y., Olofsson, B., Gebre-Medhin, S., Pekny, M., Alitalo, K., Betsholtz, C. and Eriksson, U. (2001) Vascular endothelial growth factor-B-deficient mice display an atrial conduction defect. *Circulation*, **104**, 358-364.
- Achen, M.G., Jeltsch, M., Kukk, E., Makinen, T., Vitali, A., Wilks, A.F., Alitalo, K. and Stacker, S.A. (1998) Vascular endothelial growth factor D (VEGF-D) is a ligand for the tyrosine kinases VEGF receptor 2 (Flk1) and VEGF receptor 3 (Flt4). *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 95, 548-553.
- Adams, R.H., Wilkinson, G.A., Weiss, C., Diella, F., Gale, N.W., Deutsch, U., Risau, W. and Klein, R. (1999) Roles of ephrinB ligands and EphB receptors in cardiovascular development: demarcation of arterial/venous domains, vascular morphogenesis, and sprouting angiogenesis. *Genes Dev.*, 13, 295-306.
- Aiello, L.P., Pierce, E.A., Foley, E.D., Takagi, H., Chen, H., Riddle, L., Ferrara, N., King, G.L. and Smith, L.E. (1995) Suppression of retinal neovascularization in vivo by inhibition of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) using soluble VEGF-receptor chimeric proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 92, 10457-10461.
- Alitalo, K. and Carmeliet, P. (2002) Molecular mechanisms of lymphangiogenesis in health and disease. *Lymph. Cell.*
- Arap, W., Haedicke, W., Bernasconi, M., Kain, R., Rajotte, D., Krajewski, S., Ellerby, H.M., Bredesen, D.E., Pasqualini, R. and Ruoslahti, E. (2002) Targeting the prostate for destruction through a vascular address. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, **99**, 1527-1531.
- Arap, W., Pasqualini, R. and Ruoslahti, E. (1998) Cancer treatment by targeted drug delivery to tumor vasculature in a mouse model. *Science*, 279, 377-380.
- Ayadi, A., Zheng, H., Sobieszczuk, P., Buchwalter, G., Moerman, P., Alitalo, K. and Wasylyk, B. (2001) Nettargeted mutant mice develop a vascular phenotype and up-regulate egr-1. *EMBO J.*, 20, 5139-5152.
- Bachelder, R.E., Crago, A., Chung, J., Wendt, M.A., Shaw, L.M., Robinson, G. and Mercurio, A.M. (2001) Vascular endothelial growth factor is an autocrine survival factor for neuropilin-expressing breast carcinoma cells. *Cancer Res.*, 61, 5736-5740.
- Bagnard, D., Vaillant, C., Khuth, S.T., Dufay, N., Lohrum, M., Puschel, A.W., Belin, M.F., Bolz, J. and Thomasset, N. (2001) Semaphorin 3A-vascular endothelial growth factor-165 balance mediates migration and apoptosis of neural progenitor cells by the recruitment of shared receptor. J. Neurosci., 21, 3332-3341.
- Baldwin, M.E., Catimel, B., Nice, E.C., Roufail, S., Hall, N.E., Stenvers, K.L., Karkkainen, M.J., Alitalo, K., Stacker, S.A. and Achen, M.G. (2001) The specificity of receptor binding by vascular endothelial growth factor-d is different in mouse and man. J. Biol. Chem., 276, 19166-19171.
- Banerji, S., Ni, J., Wang, S.X., S., C., Su, J., Tammi, R., Jones, M. and Jackson, D.G. (1999) LYVE-1, a new homologue of the CD44 glycoprotein, is a lymph-specific receptor for hyaluronan. J. Cell Biol., 144, 789-801.
- Bell, R., Brice, G., Child, A.H., Murday, V.A., Mansour, S., Sandy, C.J., Collin, J.R., Brady, A.F., Callen, D.F., Burnand, K., Mortimer, P. and Jeffery, S. (2001) Analysis of lymphoedema-distichiasis families for FOXC2 mutations reveals small insertions and deletions throughout the gene. *Hum. Gen.*, **108**, 546-551.
- Bellomo, D., Headrick, J.P., Silins, G.U., Paterson, C.A., Thomas, P.S., Gartside, M., Mould, A., Cahill, M.M., Tonks, I.D., Grimmond, S.M., Townson, S., Wells, C., Little, M., Cummings, M.C., Hayward, N.K. and Kay, G.F. (2000) Mice lacking the vascular endothelial growth factor-B gene (Vegfb) have smaller hearts, dysfunctional coronary vasculature, and impaired recovery from cardiac ischemia. *Circ. Res.*, 86, E29-E35.
- Beltramo, E., Pomero, F., Allione, A., D'Alu, F., Ponte, E. and Porta, M. (2002) Pericyte adhesion is impaired on extracellular matrix produced by endothelial cells in high hexose concentrations. *Diabetologia*, 45, 416-419.
- Benjamin, L.E., Hemo, I. and Keshet, E. (1998) A plasticity window for blood vessel remodelling is defined by pericyte coverage of the preformed endothelial network and is regulated by PDGF-B and VEGF. *Development*, 125, 1591-1598.
- Bi, W., Drake, C.J. and Schwarz, J.J. (1999) The transcription factor MEF2C-null mouse exhibits complex vascular malformations and reduced cardiac expression of angiopoietin 1 and VEGF. Dev. Biol., 211, 255-267.
- Biedermann, B.C. (2001) Vascular endothelium: checkpoint for inflammation and immunity. *News Physiol. Sci.*, **16**, 84-88.

- Bonni, A., Brunet, A., West, A.E., Datta, S.R., Takasu, M.A. and Greenberg, M.E. (1999) Cell survival promoted by the Ras-MAPK signaling pathway by transcription-dependent and -independent mechanisms. *Science*, 286, 1358-1362.
- Breiteneder-Geleff, S., Soleiman, A., Kowalski, H., Horvat, R., Amann, G., Kriehuber, E., Diem, K., Weninger, W., Tschachler, E., Alitalo, K. and Kerjaschki, D. (1999) Angiosarcomas express mixed endothelial phenotypes of blood and lymphatic capillaries: podoplanin as a specific marker for lymphatic endothelium. *Am. J. Pathol.*, 154, 385-394.
- Cai, H. and Reed, R.R. (1999) Cloning and characterization of neuropilin-1-interacting protein: a PSD-95/Dlg/ZO-1 domain-containing protein that interacts with the cytoplasmic domain of neuropilin-1. J. Neurosci., 19, 6519-6527.
- Cao, Y., Linden, P., Shima, D., Browne, F. and Folkman, J. (1996) In vivo angiogenic activity and hypoxia induction of heterodimers of placenta growth factor/vascular endothelial growth factor. J. Clin. Invest., 98, 2507-2511.
- Carmeliet, P. (2000) Mechanisms of angiogenesis and arteriogenesis. Nat. Med., 6, 389-395.
- Carmeliet, P., Ferreira, V., Breier, G., Pollefeyt, S., Kieckens, L., Gertsenstein, M., Fahrig, M., Vandenhoeck, A., Harpal, K., Ebenhardt, C., Declercq, C., Pawling, J., Moons, L., Collen, D., Risau, W. and Nagy, A. (1996) Abnormal blood vessel development and lethality in embryos lacking a single VEGF allele. *Nature*, 380, 435-439.
- Carmeliet, P. and Jain, R.K. (2000) Angiogenesis in cancer and other diseases. Nature, 407, 249-257.
- Carmeliet, P., Lampugnani, M.G., Moons, L., Breviario, F., Compernolle, V., Bono, F., Balconi, G., Spagnuolo, R., Oostuyse, B., Dewerchin, M., Zanetti, A., Angellilo, A., Mattot, V., Nuyens, D., Lutgens, E., Clotman, F., de Ruiter, M.C., Gittenberger-de Groot, A., Poelmann, R., Lupu, F., Herbert, J.M., Collen, D. and Dejana, E. (1999a) Targeted deficiency or cytosolic truncation of the VE-cadherin gene in mice impairs VEGF-mediated endothelial survival and angiogenesis. *Cell*, **98**, 147-157.
- Carmeliet, P., Moons, L., Luttun, A., Vincenti, V., Compernolle, V., De Mol, M., Wu, Y., Bon, F., Devy, L., Beck, H., Scholz, D., Acker, T., DiPalma, T., Dewerchin, M., Noel, A., Stalmans, I., Barra, A., Blacher, S., Vandendriessche, T., Ponten, A., Eriksson, U., Plate, K.H., Foidart, J.M., Schaper, W., Charnock-Jones, D.S. and et al. (2001) Synergism between vascular endothelial growth factor and placental growth factor contributes to angiogenesis and plasma extravasation in pathological conditions. *Nat. Med.*, 7, 575-583.
- Carmeliet, P., Ng, Y.S., Nuyens, D., Theilmeier, G., Brusselmans, K., Cornelissen, I., Ehler, E., Kakkar, V.V., Stalmans, I., Mattot, V., Perriard, J.C., Dewerchin, M., Flameng, W., Nagy, A., Lupu, F., Moons, L., Collen, D., D'Amore, P.A. and Shima, D.T. (1999b) Impaired myocardial angiogenesis and ischemic cardiomyopathy in mice lacking the vascular endothelial growth factor isoforms VEGF164 and VEGF188. *Nat Med*, 5, 495-502.
- Casley-Smith, J.R. (1987) The phylogeny of the fine structure of blood and lymphatics: similarities and differences. Lymphology, 20, 182-188.
- Castellani, V., Chedotal, A., Schachner, M., Faivre-Sarrailh, C. and Rougon, G. (2000) Analysis of the L1-deficient mouse phenotype reveals cross-talk between Sema3A and L1 signaling pathways in axonal guidance. *Neuron*, 27, 237-249.
- Chang, L. and Karin, M. (2001) Mammalian MAP kinase signalling cascades. Nature, 410, 37-40.
- Chen, H., Bagri, A., Zupicich, J.A., Zou, Y., Stoeckli, E., Pleasure, S.J., Lowenstein, D.H., Skarnes, W.C., Chedotal, A. and Tessier-Lavigne, M. (2000) Neuropilin-2 regulates the development of selective cranial and sensory nerves and hippocampal mossy fiber projections. *Neuron*, 25, 43-56.
- Clauss, M., Weich, H., Breier, G., Knies, U., Rockl, W., Waltenberger, J. and Risau, W. (1996) The vascular endothelial growth factor receptor Flt-1 mediates biological activities. Implications for a functional role of placenta growth factor in monocyte activation and chemotaxis. J. Biol. Chem., 271, 17629-17634.
- Cochet, C., Gill, G.N., Meisenhelder, J., Cooper, J.A. and Hunter, T. (1984) C-kinase phosphorylates the epidermal growth factor receptor and reduces its epidermal growth factor-stimulated tyrosine protein kinase activity. J. Biol. Chem., 259, 2553-2558.
- Conway, E.M., Collen, D. and Carmeliet, P. (2001) Molecular mechanisms of blood vessel growth. Cardiovasc. Res., 49, 507-521.
- Datta, S.R., Brunet, A. and Greenberg, M.E. (1999) Cellular survival: a play in three Akts. *Genes Dev.*, **13**, 2905-2927.
- Davis, S., Aldrich, T.H., Jones, P.F., Acheson, A., Compton, D.L., Jain, V., Ryan, T.E., Bruno, J., Raziejewski, C., Maisonpierre, P.C. and Yancopoulos, G.D. (1997) Isolation of Angiopoietin-1, a Ligand for the TIE2 receptor, by Secretion-Trap Expression Cloning. *Cell*, 87, 1161-1169.

- Deckers, M.M., Karperien, M., van der Bent, C., Yamashita, T., Papapoulos, S.E. and Lowik, C.W. (2000) Expression of vascular endothelial growth factors and their receptors during osteoblast differentiation. *Endocrinology*, 141, 1667-1674.
- DiSalvo, J., Bayne, M.L., Conn, G., Kwok, P.W., Trivedi, P.G., Soderman, D.D., Palisi, T.M., Sullivan, K.A. and Thomas, K.A. (1995) Purification and characterization of a naturally occurring vascular endothelial growth factor:placenta growth factor heterodimer. J. Biol. Chem., 270, 7717-7723.
- Doanes, A.M., Hegland, D.D., Sethi, R., Kovesdi, I., Bruder, J.T. and Finkel, T. (1999) VEGF stimulates MAPK through a pathway that is unique for receptor tyrosine kinases. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 255, 545-548.
- Dumont, D.J., Jussila, L., Taipale, J., Lymboussaki, A., Mustonen, T., Pajusola, K., Breitman, M. and Alitalo, K. (1998) Cardiovascular failure in mouse embryos deficient in VEGF receptor-3. *Science*, 282, 946-949.
- Ebata, N., Nodasaka, Y., Sawa, Y., Yamaoka, Y., Makino, S., Totsuka, Y. and Yoshida, S. (2001) Desmoplakin as a specific marker of lymphatic vessels. *Microvasc. Res.*, 61, 40-48.
- Emanuelli, B., Peraldi, P., Filloux, C., Sawka-Verhelle, D., Hilton, D. and Van Obberghen, E. (2000) SOCS-3 is an insulin-induced negative regulator of insulin signaling. J. Biol. Chem., 275, 15985-15991.
- Essler, M. and Ruoslahti, E. (2002) Molecular specialization of breast vasculature: A breast-homing phage-displayed peptide binds to aminopeptidase P in breast vasculature. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 99, 2252-2257.
- Etoh, T., Inoue, H., Tanaka, S., Barnard, G.F., Kitano, S. and Mori, M. (2001) Angiopoietin-2 is related to tumor angiogenesis in gastric carcinoma: possible in vivo regulation via induction of proteases. *Cancer Res.*, 61, 2145-2153.
- Fang, J., Dagenais, S.L., Erickson, R.P., Arlt, M.F., Glynn, M.W., Gorski, J.L., Seaver, L.H. and Glover, T.W. (2000) Mutations in FOXC2 (MFH-1), a forkhead family transcription factor, are responsible for the hereditary lymphedema-distichiasis syndrome. *Am. J. Hum. Gen.*, **67**, 1382-1388.
- Ferrara, N. (1999) Molecular and biological properties of vascular endothelial growth factor. J. Mol. Med., 77, 527-543.
- Ferrara, N., Carver-Moore, K., Chen, H., Dowd, M., Lu, L., O'Shea, K.S., Powell-Braxton, L., Hillan, K.J. and Moore, M.W. (1996) Heterozygous embryonic lethality induced by targeted inactivation of the VEGF gene. *Nature*, 380, 439-442.
- Ferrara, N., Chen, H., Davis-Smyth, T., Gerber, H.P., Nguyen, T.N., Peers, D., Chisholm, V., Hillan, K.J. and Schwall, R.H. (1998) Vascular endothelial growth factor is essential for corpus luteum angiogenesis. *Nature Med.*, 4, 336-340.
- Finegold, D.N., Kimak, M.A., Lawrence, E.C., Levinson, K.L., Cherniske, E.M., Pober, B.R., Dunlap, J.W. and Ferrell, R.E. (2001) Truncating mutations in FOXC2 cause multiple lymphedema syndromes. *Hum. Mol. Gen.*, 10, 1185-1189.
- Folkman, J. (1995) Angiogenesis in cancer, vascular, rheumatoid and other disease. Nat. Med., 1, 27-31.
- Folkman, J. (1996) Angiogenesis and tumor growth. N. Engl. J. Med., 334, 921.
- Fong, G.-H., Zhang, L., Bryce, D.-M. and Peng, J. (1999) Increased hemangioblast commitment, not vascular disorganization, is the primary defect in flt-1 knock-out mice. *Development*, **126**, 3015-3025.
- Fong, G.H., Rossant, J., Gertsenstein, M. and Breitman, M.L. (1995) Role of the Flt-1 receptor tyrosine kinase in regulating the assembly of vascular endothelium. *Nature*, 376, 66-70.
- Fournier, E., Dubreuil, P., Birnbaum, D. and Borg, J.-P. (1995) Mutation at tyrosine residue 1337 abrogates ligand dependent transforming capacity of the FLT4 receptor. *Oncogene*, 11, 921-931.
- Fuh, G., Garcia, K.C. and de Vos, A.M. (2000) The interaction of neuropilin-1 with vascular endothelial growth factor and its receptor flt-1. J. Biol. Chem., 275, 26690-26695.
- Gasmi, A., Abidi, F., Srairi, N., Oijatayer, A., Karoui, H. and Elayeb, M. (2000) Purification and characterization of a growth factor-like which increases capillary permeability from Vipera lebetina venom. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 268, 69-72.
- Gerber, H.P., Hillan, K.J., Ryan, A.M., Kowalski, J., Keller, G.A., Rangell, L., Wright, B.D., Radtke, F., Aguet, M. and Ferrara, N. (1999a) VEGF is required for growth and survival in neonatal mice. *Development*, **126**, 1149-1159.
- Gerber, H.P., Vu, T.H., Ryan, A.M., Kowalski, J., Werb, Z. and Ferrara, N. (1999b) VEGF couples hypertrophic cartilage remodeling, ossification and angiogenesis during endochondral bone formation. *Nat. Med.*, 5, 623-628.
- Gerhardt, H., Wolburg, H. and Redies, C. (2000) N-cadherin mediates pericytic-endothelial interaction during brain angiogenesis in the chicken. Dev. Dyn., 218, 472-479.
- Giancotti, F.G. and Ruoslahti, E. (1999) Integrin signaling. Science, 285, 1028-1032.

- Giger, R.J., Cloutier, J.F., Sahay, A., Prinjha, R.K., Levengood, D.V., Moore, S.E., Pickering, S., Simmons, D., Rastan, S., Walsh, F.S., Kolodkin, A.L., Ginty, D.D. and Geppert, M. (2000) Neuropilin-2 is required in vivo for selective axon guidance responses to secreted semaphorins. *Neuron*, 25, 29-41.
- Gille, H., Kowalski, J., Yu, L.L., Chen, H., Pisabarro, M.T., Davis-Smyth, T. and Ferrara, N. (2000) A repressor sequence in the juxtamembrane domain of Flt-1 (VEGFR-1) constitutively inhibits vascular endothelial growth factor-dependent phosphatidylinositol 3 '-kinase activation and endothelial cell migration. *EMBO J.*, **19**, 4064-4073.
- Gluzman-Poltorak, Z., Cohen, T., Herzog, Y. and Neufeld, G. (2000) Neuropilin-2 is a receptor for the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) forms VEGF-145 and VEGF-165. J. Biol. Chem., 275, 29922.
- Gluzman-Poltorak, Z., Cohen, T., Shibuya, M. and Neufeld, G. (2001) Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-1 and neuropilin-2 form complexes. J. Biol. Chem., 276, 18688-18694.
- Goldman, C.K., Kendall, R.L., Cabrera, G., Soroceanu, L., Heike, Y., Gillespie, G.Y., Siegal, G.P., Mao, X., Bett, A.J., Huckle, W.R., Thomas, K.A. and Curiel, D.T. (1998) Paracrine expression of a native soluble vascular endothelial growth factor receptor inhibits tumor growth, metastasis, and mortality rate. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, 95, 8795-8800.
- Goldman, C.K., Kim, J., Wong, W.L., King, V., Brock, T. and Gillespie, G.Y. (1993) Epidermal growth factor stimulates vascular endothelial growth factor production by human malignant glioma cells: a model of glioblastoma multiforme pathophysiology. *Mol. Biol. Cell*, 4, 121-133.
- Goldman-Wohl, D.S., Ariel, I., Greenfield, C., Lavy, Y. and Yagel, S. (2000) Tie-2 and angiopoietin-2 expression at the fetal-maternal interface: a receptor ligand model for vascular remodelling. *Mol. Hum. Reprod.*, 6, 81-87.
- Gupta, K., Kshirsagar, S., Li, W., Gui, L., Ramakrishnan, S., Gupta, P., Law, P.Y. and Hebbel, R.P. (1999) VEGF prevents apoptosis of human microvascular endothelial cells via opposing effects on MAPK/ERK and SAPK/JNK signaling. *Exp. Cell Res.*, 247, 495-504.
- Hauser, S. and Weich, H.A. (1993) A heparin-binding form of placenta growth factor (PIGF-2) is expressed in human umbilical vein endothelial cells and in placenta. *Growth Factors*, 9, 259-268.
- Hayes, A.J., Huang, W.Q., Mallah, J., Yang, D., Lippman, M.E. and Li, L.Y. (1999) Angiopoietin-1 and its receptor Tie-2 participate in the regulation of capillary-like tubule formation and survival of endothelial cells. *Microvasc. Res.*, 58, 224-237.
- He, Y., Kozaki, K., Karpanen, T., Koshikawa, K., Yla-Herttuala, S., Takahashi, T. and Alitalo, K. (2002) Inhibition of VEGFR-3 signalling suppresses tumor lymphangiogenesis and lymph node metastasis. in press.
- Herzog, Y., Kalcheim, C., Kahane, N., Reshef, R. and Neufeld, G. (2001) Differential expression of neuropilin-1 and neuropilin-2 in arteries and veins. *Mech. Dev.*, **109**, 115-119.
- Hiratsuka, S., Minowa, O., Kuno, J., Noda, T. and Shibuya, M. (1998) Flt-1 lacking the tyrosine kinase domain is sufficient for normal development and angiogenesis in mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 95, 9349-9354.
- Hosking, B.M., Wang, S.C., Chen, S.L., Penning, S., Koopman, P. and Muscat, G.E. (2001) SOX18 directly interacts with MEF2C in endothelial cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 287, 493-500.
- Huang, K., Andersson, C., Roomans, G.M., Ito, N. and Claesson-Welsh, L. (2001) Signaling properties of VEGF receptor-1 and -2 homo- and heterodimers. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.*, 33, 315-324.
- Huang, X.Z., Wu, J.F., Ferrando, R., Lee, J.H., Wang, Y.L., Farese, R.V., Jr. and Sheppard, D. (2000) Fatal bilateral chylothorax in mice lacking the integrin alpha9beta1. *Mol. Cell Biol.*, 20, 5208-5215.
- Hubbard, S.R. (1997) Crystal structure of the activated insulin receptor tyrosine kinase in complex with peptide substrate and ATP analog. *EMBO J.*, 16, 5572-5581.
- Hughes, D.C. (2001) Alternative splicing of the human VEGFGR-3/FLT4 gene as a consequence of an integrated human endogenous retrovirus. J. Mol. Evol., 53, 77-79.
- Huntington, G.S. and McClure, C.F.W. (1908) The anatomy and development of the jugular lymph sac in the domestic cat (*Felis domestica*). Anat. Rec., 2, 1-19.
- Iljin, K., Karkkainen, M.J., Lawrence, E. C., Kimak, M. A., Uutela, M., Taipale, J., Pajusola, K., Alhonen, L., Halmekyto, M., Finegold, D. N., Ferrell, R. E. and Alitalo, K. (2001) VEGFR3 gene structure, regulatory region, and sequence polymorphisms. *FASEB J.*, 15, 1028-1036.
- Irjala, H., Johansson, E.L., Grenman, R., Alanen, K., Salmi, M. and Jalkanen, S. (2001) Mannose receptor is a novel ligand for L-selectin and mediates lymphocyte binding to lymphatic endothelium. J. Exp. Med., 194, 1033-1041.
- Irrthum, A., Karkkainen, M.J., Devriendt, K., Alitalo, K. and Vikkula, M. (2000) Congenital hereditary lymphedema caused by a mutation that inactivates VEGFR3 tyrosine kinase. Am. J. Hum. Gen., 67, 295-301.
- Jeltsch, M., Kaipainen, A., Joukov, V., Meng, X., Lakso, M., Rauvala, H., Swartz, M., Fukumura, D., Jain, R.K. and Alitalo, K. (1997) Hyperplasia of lymphatic vessels in VEGF-C transgenic mice. *Science*, 276, 1423-1425.

- Jin, K.L., Mao, X.O. and Greenberg, D.A. (2000) Vascular endothelial growth factor: direct neuroprotective effect in in vitro ischemia. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 97, 10242-10247.
- Jones, N., Voskas, D., Master, Z., Sarao, R., Jones, J. and Dumont, D.J. (2001) Rescue of the early vascular defects in Tek/Tie2 null mice reveals an essential survival function. *EMBO Rep.*, 2, 438-445.
- Joukov, V., Kumar, V., Sorsa, T., Arighi, E., Weich, H., Saksela, O. and Alitalo, K. (1998) A recombinant mutant vascular endothelial growth factor-C that has lost vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2 binding, activation, and vascular permeability activities. J. Biol. Chem., 273, 6599-6602.
- Joukov, V., Pajusola, K., Kaipainen, A., Chilov, D., Lahtinen, I., Kukk, E., Saksela, O., Kalkkinen, N. and Alitalo, K. (1996) A novel vascular endothelial growth factor, VEGF-C, is a ligand for the Flt4 (VEGFR-3) and KDR (VEGFR-2) receptor tyrosine kinases. *EMBO J.*, **15**, 290-298.
- Joukov, V., Sorsa, T., Kumar, V., Jeltsch, M., Claesson-Welsh, L., Cao, Y., Saksela, O., Kalkkinen, N. and Alitalo, K. (1997) Proteolytic processing regulates receptor specificity and activity of VEGF-C. *EMBO J.*, 16, 3898-3911.
- Jussila, L., Valtola, R., Partanen, T.A., Salven, P., Heikkila, P., Matikainen, M.T., Renkonen, R., Kaipainen, A., Detmar, M., Tschachler, E., Alitalo, R. and Alitalo, K. (1998) Lymphatic endothelium and Kaposi's sarcoma spindle cells detected by antibodies against the vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-3. *Cancer Res.*, 58, 1599-1604.
- Kaipainen, A., Korhonen, J., Mustonen, T., van Hinsbergh, V.M., Fang, G.-H., Dumont, D., Breitman, M. and Alitalo, K. (1995) Expression of the *fins*-like tyrosine kinase FLT4 gene becomes restricted to lymphatic endothelium during development. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 92, 3566-3570.
- Kampmeier, O.F. (1912) The value of the injection method in the study of lymphatic development. *Anat. Rec.*, **6**, 223-232.
- Karkkainen, M.J., Ferrell, R.E., Lawrence, E.C., Kimak, M.A., Levinson, K.L., Alitalo, K. and Finegold, D.N. (2000) Missense mutations interfere with VEGFR-3 signaling in primary lymphoedema. *Nat. Genet.*, 25, 153-159.
- Karkkainen, M.J., Saaristo, A., Jussila, L., Karila, K.A., Lawrence, E.C., Pajusola, K., Bueler, H., Eichmann, A., Kauppinen, R., Kettunen, M.I., Yla-Herttuala, S., Finegold, D.N., Ferrell, R.E. and Alitalo, K. (2001) A model for gene therapy of human hereditary lymphedema. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 98, 12677-12682.
- Karpanen, T., Egeblad, M., Karkkainen, M.J., Kubo, H., Ylä-Herttuala, S., Jäättelä, M. and Alitalo, K. (2001) Vacular endothelial growth factor C promotes tumor lymphangiogenesis and intralymphatic tumor growth. *Cancer Res.*, 61, 1786-1790.
- Kawakami, A., Kitsukawa, T., Takagi, S. and Fujisawa, H. (1996) Developmentally regulated expression of a cell surface protein, neuropilin, in the mouse nervous system. J. Neurobiol., 29, 1-17.
- Kawasaki, T., Kitsukawa, T., Bekku, Y., Matsuda, Y., Sanbo, M., Yagi, T. and Fujisawa, H. (1999) A requirement for neuropilin-1 in embryonic vessel formation. *Development*, **126**, 4895-9402.
- Kendall, R.L. and Thomas, K.A. (1993) Inhibition of vascular endothelial cell growth factor activity by an endogenously encoded soluble receptor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, **90**, 10705-10709.
- Keyt, B.A., Berleau, L.T., Nguyen, H.V., Chen, H., Heinsohn, H., Vandlen, R. and Ferrara, N. (1996) The carboxylterminal domain (111-165) of vascular endothelial growth factor is critical for its mitogenic potency. J. Biol. Chem., 271, 7788-7795.
- Kitsukawa, T., Shimizu, M., Sanbo, M., Hirata, T., Taniguchi, M., Bekku, Y., Yagi, T. and Fujisawa, H. (1997) Neuropilin-semaphorin III/D-mediated chemorepulsive signals play a crucial role in peripheral nerve projection in mice. *Neuron*, **19**, 995-1005.
- Kitsukawa, T., Shimono, A., Kawakami, A., Kondoh, H. and Fujisawa, H. (1995) Overexpression of a membrane protein, neuropilin, in chimeric mice causes anomalies in the cardiovascular system, nervous system and limbs. *Development*, **121**, 4309-4318.
- Koga, K., Todaka, T., Morioka, M., Hamada, J., Kai, Y., Yano, S., Okamura, A., Takakura, N., Suda, T. and Ushio, Y. (2001) Expression of angiopoietin-2 in human glioma cells and its role for angiogenesis. *Cancer Res.*, 61, 6248-6254.
- Komori, Y., Nikai, T., Taniguchi, K., Masuda, K. and Sugihara, H. (1999) Vascular endothelial growth factor VEGF-like heparin-binding protein from the venom of Vipera aspis aspis (Aspic viper). *Biochemistry*, 38, 11796-11803.
- Kong, H.L., Hecht, D., Song, W., Kovesdi, I., Hackett, N.R., Yayon, A. and Crystal, R.G. (1998) Regional suppression of tumor growth by in vivo transfer of a cDNA encoding a secreted form of the extracellular domain of the flt-1 vascular endothelial growth factor receptor. *Hum. Gene Ther.*, 9, 823-833.

- Kontos, C.D., Cha, E.H., York, J.D. and Peters, K.G. (2002) The endothelial receptor tyrosine kinase Tie1 activates phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and Akt to inhibit apoptosis. *Mol. Cell Biol.*, 22, 1704-1713.
- Kontos, C.D., Stauffer, T.P., Yang, W.P., York, J.D., Huang, L., Blanar, M.A., Meyer, T. and Peters, K.G. (1998) Tyrosine 1101 of Tie2 is the major site of association of p85 and is required for activation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and Akt. *Mol. Cell Biol.*, 18, 4131-4140.
- Kotani, M. (1990) New concepts related to the evolution of lymphatics. Progress in Lymphology -XII.
- Kriehuber, E., Breiteneder-Geleff, S., Groeger, M., Soleiman, A., Schoppmann, S. F., Stingl, G., Kerjaschki, D. and Maurer, D. (2001) Isolation and characterization of dermal lymphatic and blood endothelial cells reveal stable and functionally specialized cell lineages. J. Exp. Med., 194, 797-808.
- Krum, J.M. and Rosenstein, J.M. (1998) VEGF mRNA and its receptor flt-1 are expressed in reactive astrocytes following neural grafting and tumor cell implantation in the adult CNS. *Exp. Neurol.*, **154**, 57-65.
- Kubo, H., Fujiwara, T., Jussila, L., Hashi, H., Ogawa, M., Shimizu, K., Awane, M., Sakai, Y., Takabayashi, A., Alitalo, K., Yamaoka, Y. and Nishikawa, S.-I. (2000) Involvement of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-3 in maintenance of integrity of endothelial cell lining during tumor angiogenesis. *Blood*, 96, 546-553.
- Kukk, E., Lymboussaki, A., Taira, S., Kaipainen, A., Jeltsch, M., Joukov, V. and Alitalo, K. (1996) VEGF-C receptor binding and pattern of expression with VEGFR-3 suggest a role in lymphatic vascular development. *Development*, **122**, 3829-3837.
- Lammert, E., Cleaver, O. and Melton, D. (2001) Induction of pancreatic differentiation by signals from blood vessels. Science, 294, 564-567.
- Landgren, E., Schiller, P., Cao, Y. and Claesson-Welsh, L. (1998) Placenta growth factor stimulates MAP kinase and mitogenicity but not phospholipase C-gamma and migration of endothelial cells expressing Flt 1. Oncogene, 16, 359-367.
- Lawson, N.D., Scheer, N., Pham, V.N., Kim, C.H., Chitnis, A.B., Campos-Ortega, J.A. and Weinstein, B.M. (2001) Notch signaling is required for arterial-venous differentiation during embryonic vascular development. *Development*, **128**, 3675-3683.
- Lemmon, M.A. and Schlessinger, J. (1994) Regulation and signal diversity by receptor oligomerization. *Trends Biochem. Sci.*, 19, 459-463.
- Lin, P., Sankar, S., Shan, S., Dewhirst, M.W., Polverini, P.J., Quinn, T.Q. and Peters, K.G. (1998a) Inhibition of tumor growth by targeting tumor endothelium using a soluble vascular endothelial growth factor receptor. *Cell Growth Different.*, 9, 49-58.
- Lin, Q., Lu, J., Yanagisawa, H., Webb, R., Lyons, G.E., Richardson, J.A. and Olson, E.N. (1998b) Requirement of the MADS-box transcription factor MEF2C for vascular development. *Development*, 125, 4565-4574.
- Liu, Z.Y., Ganju, R.K., Wang, J.F., Schweitzer, K., Weksler, B., Avraham, S. and Groopman, J.E. (1997) Characterization of signal transduction pathways in human bone marrow endothelial cells. *Blood*, **90**, 2253-2259.
- Livnah, O., Stura, E.A., Middleton, S.A., Johnson, D.L., Jolliffe, L.K. and Wilson, I.A. (1999) Crystallographic evidence for preformed dimers of erythropoietin receptor before ligand activation. *Science*, 283, 987-990.
- Lowes, V.L., Ip, N.Y. and Wong, Y.H. (2002) Integration of signals from receptor tyrosine kinases and g proteincoupled receptors. *Neurosignals*, 11, 5-19.
- Lyden, D., Hattori, K., Dias, S., Costa, C., Blaikie, P., Butros, L., Chadburn, A., Heissig, B., Marks, W., Witte, L., Wu, Y., Hicklin, D., Zhu, Z., Hackett, N.R., Crystal, R.G., Moore, M.A., Hajjar, K.A., Manova, K., Benezra, R. and Rafii, S. (2001) Impaired recruitment of bone-marrow-derived endothelial and hematopoietic precursor cells blocks tumor angiogenesis and growth. *Nat. Med.*, 7, 1194-1201.
- Lyttle, D.J., Fraser, K.M., Fleming, S.B., Mercer, A.A. and Robinson, A.J. (1994) Homologs of vascular endothelial growth factor are encoded by the poxvirus orf virus. J. Virol., 68, 84-92.
- Maglione, D., Guerriero, V., Viglietto, G., Delli-Bovi, P. and Persico, M.G. (1991) Isolation of a human placenta cDNA coding for a protein related to the vascular permeability factor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 88, 9267-9271.
- Maglione, D., Guerriero, V., Viglietto, G., Ferraro, M.G., Aprelikova, O., Alitalo, K., Del Vecchio, S., Lei, K.-J., Chou, J.Y. and Persico, M.G. (1993) Two alternative mRNAs coding for the angiogenic factor, placenta growth factor (PIGF), are transcribed from a single gene of chromosome 14. Oncogene, 8, 925-931.
- Maisonpierre, P.C., Suri, C., Jones, P.F., Bartunkova, S., Wiegand, S.J., Radziejewski, C., Compton, D., McClain, J., Aldrich, T.H., Papadopoulos, N., Daly, T.J., Davis, S., Sato, T.N. and Yancopoulos, G.D. (1997) Angiopoietin-2, a natural antagonist for Tie2 that disrupts in vivo angiogenesis. *Science*, 277, 55-60.

- Makinen, T., Olofsson, B., Karpanen, T., Hellman, U., Soker, S., Klagsbrun, M., Eriksson, U. and Alitalo, K. (1999) Differential binding of vascular endothelial growth factor B splice and proteolytic isoforms to neuropilin-1. J. Biol. Chem., 274, 21217-21222.
- Mandriota, S.J., Jussila, L., Jeltsch, M., Compagni, A., Baetens, D., Prevo, R., Banerji, S., Huarte, J., Montesano, R., Jackson, D.G., Orci, L., Alitalo, K., Christofori, G. and Pepper, M.S. (2001) Vascular endothelial growth factor-C-mediated lymphangiogenesis promotes tumour metastasis. *EMBO J.*, 20, 672-682.
- Mandriota, S.J. and Pepper, M.S. (1998) Regulation of angiopoietin-2 mRNA levels in bovine microvascular endothelial cells by cytokines and hypoxia. Circ. Res., 83, 852-859.
- Marconcini, L., Marchio, S., Morbidelli, L., Cartocci, E., Albini, A., Ziche, M., Bussolino, F. and Oliviero, S. (1999) c-fos-induced growth factor/vascular endothelial growth factor D induces angiogenesis in vivo and in vitro. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 96, 9671-9676.
- Matsumoto, K., Yoshitomi, H., Rossant, J. and Zaret, K.S. (2001) Liver organogenesis promoted by endothelial cells prior to vascular function. *Science*, 294, 559-563.
- Matsumoto, T. and Claesson-Welsh, L. (2001) VEGF receptor signal transduction. Sci. STKE, 2001, RE21.
- Mayr-wohlfart, U., Waltenberger, J., Hausser, H., Kessler, S., Gunther, K.P., Dehio, C., Puhl, W. and Brenner, R.E. (2002) Vascular endothelial growth factor stimulates chemotactic migration of primary human osteoblasts. *Bone*, **30**, 472-477.
- Meyer, M., Clauss, M., Lepple-Wienhues, A., Waltenberger, J., Augustin, H.G., Ziche, M., Lanz, C., Buttner, M., Rziha, H.J. and Dehio, C. (1999) A novel vascular endothelial growth factor encoded by Orf virus, VEGF-E, mediates angiogenesis via signalling through VEGFR-2 (KDR) but not VEGFR-1 (Flt-1) receptor tyrosine kinases. *EMBO J.*, 18, 363-374.
- Miao, H.Q., Soker, S., Feiner, L., Alonso, J.L., Raper, J.A. and Klagsbrun, M. (1999) Neuropilin-1 mediates collapsin-1/semaphorin III inhibition of endothelial cell motility: functional competition of collapsin-1 and vascular endothelial growth factor-165. J. Cell Biol., 146, 233-242.
- Midy, V. and Plouet, J. (1994) Vasculotropin/vascular endothelial growth factor induces differentiation in cultured osteoblasts. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 199, 380-386.
- Migdal, M., Huppertz, B., Tessler, S., Comforti, A., Shibuya, M., Reich, R., Baumann, H. and Neufeld, G. (1998) Neuropilin-1 is a placenta growth factor-2 receptor. J Biol Chem, 273, 22272-22278.
- Millauer, B., Shawver, L.K., Plate, K.H., Risau, W. and Ullrich, A. (1994) Glioblastoma growth inhibited in vivo by a dominant-negative Flk-1 mutant. *Nature*, 367, 576-579.
- Miyamoto, S., Teramoto, H., Gutkind, J.S. and Yamada, K.M. (1996) Integrins can collaborate with growth factors for phosphorylation of receptor tyrosine kinases and MAP kinase activation: roles of integrin aggregation and occupancy of receptors. J. Cell Biol., 135, 1633-1642.
- Moriki, T., Maruyama, H. and Maruyama, I.N. (2001) Activation of preformed EGF receptor dimers by ligandinduced rotation of the transmembrane domain. J. Mol. Biol., 311, 1011-1026.
- Moro, L., Venturino, M., Bozzo, C., Silengo, L., Altruda, F., Beguinot, L., Tarone, G. and Defilippi, P. (1998) Integrins induce activation of EGF receptor: role in MAP kinase induction and adhesion-dependent cell survival. *EMBO J.*, **17**, 6622-6632.
- Moyon, D., Pardanaud, L., Yuan, L., Breant, C. and Eichmann, A. (2001) Plasticity of endothelial cells during arterial-venous differentiation in the avian embryo. *Development*, **128**, 3359-33570.
- Mäkinen, T., Jussila, L., Veikkola, T., Karpanen, T., Kettunen, M.I., Pulkkanen, K.J., Kauppinen, R., Jackson, D.G., Kubo, H., Nishikawa, S.-I., Ylä-Herttuala, S. and Alitalo, K. (2001a) Inhibition of lymphangiogenesis with resulting lymphedema in transgenic mice expressing soluble VEGF receptor-3. *Nat. Med.*, 7, 199-205.
- Mäkinen, T., Veikkola, T., Mustjoki, S., Karpanen, T., Wise, L., Mercer, A., Catimel, B., Nice, E.C., Kowalski, H., Kerjaschki, D., Stacker, S.A., Achen, M.G. and Alitalo, K. (2001b) Isolated lymphatic endothelial cells transduce growth, survival and migratory signals via the VEGF-C/D receptor VEGFR-3. *EMBO J.*, 20, 4762-4773.
- Nakamura, F., Tanaka, M., Takahashi, T., Kalb, R.G. and Strittmatter, S.M. (1998) Neuropilin-1 extracellular domains mediate semaphorin D/III-induced growth cone collapse. *Neuron*, 21, 1093-1100.
- Neufeld, G., Cohen, T., Shraga, N., Lange, T., Kessler, O. and Herzog, Y. (2002) The Neuropilins. Multifunctional Semaphorin and VEGF Receptors that Modulate Axon Guidance and Angiogenesis. *Trends Cardiovasc. Med.*, 12, 13-19.
- Nibbs, R.J., Kriehuber, E., Ponath, P.D., Parent, D., Qin, S., Campbell, J.D., Henderson, A., Kerjaschki, D., Maurer, D., Graham, G.J. and Rot, A. (2001) The beta-chemokine receptor D6 is expressed by lymphatic endothelium and a subset of vascular tumors. *Am. J. Pathol.*, **158**, 867-877.

- Ogawa, S., Oku, A., Sawano, A., Yamaguchi, S., Yazaki, Y. and Shibuya, M. (1998) A novel type of vascular endothelial growth factor: VEGF-E (NZ-7 VEGF) preferentially utilizes KDR/Flk-1 receptor and carries a potent mitotic activity without heparin-binding domain. J. Biol. Chem., 273, 31273-31282.
- Oh, H., Takagi, H., Suzuma, K., Otani, A., Matsumura, M. and Honda, Y. (1999) Hypoxia and vascular endothelial growth factor selectively up-regulate angiopoietin-2 in bovine microvascular endothelial cells. J. Biol. Chem., 274, 15732-15739.
- Oh, S.J., Jeltsch, M.M., Birkenhager, R., McCarthy, J.E., Weich, H.A., Christ, B., Alitalo, K. and Wilting, J. (1997) VEGF and VEGF-C: specific induction of angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis in the differentiated avian chorioallantoic membrane. *Dev. Biol.*, **188**, 96-109.
- Ohta, Y., Shridhar, V., Bright, R.K., Kalemkerian, G.P., Du, W., Carbone, M., Watanabe, Y. and Pass, H.I. (1999) VEGF and VEGF type C play an important role in angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis in human malignant mesothelioma tumours. *Br. J. Cancer*, 81, 54-61.
- Olofsson, B., Korpelainen, E., Pepper, M.S., Mandriota, S.J., Aase, K., Kumar, V., Gunji, Y., Jeltsch, M.M., Shibuya, M., Alitalo, K. and Eriksson, U. (1998) Vascular endothelial growth factor B (VEGF-B) binds to VEGF receptor-1 and regulates plasminogen activator activity in endothelial cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 95, 11709-11714.
- Olofsson, B., Ober, E., Makinen, T., Jin, S.-W., Koh, G.Y., Alitalo, K. and Stainier, D.Y.R. (submitted) Vascular endothelial growth factor C regulates endodermal morphogenesis in zebrafish. *Nature*.
- Olofsson, B., Pajusola, K., Kaipainen, A., Von Euler, G., Joukov, V., Saksela, O., Orpana, A., Pettersson, R.F., Alitalo, K. and Eriksson, U. (1996a) Vascular endothelial growth factor B, a novel growth factor for endothelial cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 93, 2576-2581.
- Olofsson, B., Pajusola, K., von Euler, G., Chilov, D., Alitalo, K. and Eriksson, U. (1996b) Genomic organization of the mouse and human genes for vascular endothelial growth factor B (VEGF-B) and characterization of a second splice isoform. J. Biol. Chem., 271, 19310-19317.
- Oosthuyse, B., Moons, L., Storkebaum, E., Beck, H., Nuyens, D., Brusselmans, K., Van Dorpe, J., Hellings, P., Gorselink, M., Heymans, S., Theilmeier, G., Dewerchin, M., Laudenbach, V., Vermylen, P., Raat, H., Acker, T., Vleminckx, V., Van Den Bosch, L., Cashman, N., Fujisawa, H., Drost, M.R., Sciot, R., Bruyninckx, F., Hicklin, D.J., Ince, C., Gressens, P., Lupu, F., Plate, K.H., Robberecht, W., Herbert, J.M., Collen, D. and Carmeliet, P. (2001) Deletion of the hypoxia-response element in the vascular endothelial growth factor promoter causes motor neuron degeneration. *Nat. Genet.*, 28, 131-138.
- Ostman, A. and Bohmer, F.D. (2001) Regulation of receptor tyrosine kinase signaling by protein tyrosine phosphatases. *Trends Cell. Biol.*, 11, 258-266.
- Pajusola, K., Aprelikova, O., Armstrong, E., Morris, S. and Alitalo, K. (1993) Two human FLT4 receptor tyrosine kinase isoforms with distinct carboxyterminal tails are produced by alternative processing of primary transcripts. *Oncogene*, 8, 2931-2937.
- Pajusola, K., Aprelikova, O., Pelicci, G., Weich, H., Claesson-Welsh, L. and Alitalo, K. (1994) Signalling properties of FLT4, a proteolytically processed receptor tyrosine kinase related to two VEGF receptors. *Oncogene*, 9, 3545-3555.
- Papapetropoulos, A., Fulton, D., Mahboubi, K., Kalb, R.G., O'Connor, D.S., Li, F., Altieri, D.C. and Sessa, W.C. (2000) Angiopoietin-1 inhibits endothelial cell apoptosis via the Akt/survivin pathway. J. Biol. Chem., 275, 9102-9105.
- Papoutsi, M., Tomarev, S.I., Eichmann, A., Prols, F., Christ, B. and Wilting, J. (2001) Endogenous origin of the lymphatics in the avian chorioallantoic membrane. *Dev. Dyn.*, 222, 238-251.
- Partanen, J., Puri, M.C., Schwartz, L., Fischer, K.-D., Bernstein, A. and Rossant, J. (1996) Cell autonomous functions of the receptor tyrosine kinase TIE in a late phase of angiogenic capillary growth and endothelial cell survival during murine development. *Development*, **122**, 3013-3021.
- Partanen, T.A., Alitalo, K. and Miettinen, M. (1999) Lack of lymphatic vascular specificity of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 3 in 185 vascular tumors. *Cancer*, 86, 2406-2412.
- Partanen, T.A., Arola, J., Saaristo, A., Jussila, L., Ora, A., Miettinen, M., Stacker, S.A., Achen, M.G. and Alitalo, K. (2000) VEGF-C and VEGF-D expression in neuroendocrine cells and their receptor, VEGFR-3, in fenestrated blood vessels in human tissues. *FASEB J.*, 14, 2087-2096.
- Pennisi, D., Bowles, J., Nagy, A., Muscat, G. and Koopman, P. (2000a) Mice null for sox18 are viable and display a mild coat defect. *Mol. Cell. Biol.*, 20, 9331-9336.
- Pennisi, D., Gardner, J., Chambers, D., Hosking, B., Peters, J., Muscat, G., Abbott, C. and Koopman, P. (2000b) Mutations in Sox18 underlie cardiovascular and hair follicle defects in ragged mice. *Nat. Genet.*, 24, 434-437.

- Pertovaara, L., Kaipainen, A., Mustonen, T., Orpana, A., Ferrara, N., Saksela, O. and Alitalo, K. (1994) Vascular endothelial growth factor is induced in response to transforming growth factor-b in fibroblastic and epithelial cells. J. Biol. Chem., 269, 6271-6274.
- Petrova, T.V., Makinen, T. and Alitalo, K. (1999) Signaling via vascular endothelial growth factor receptors. *Exp. Cell Res.*, 253, 117-130.
- Petrova, T.V., Mäkinen, T., Mäkelä, T., Kerjaschki, D., Ylä-Herttuala, S. and Alitalo, K. (submitted) Prox-1 regulates the genetic program controlling lymphatic versus blood vascular endothelial phenotype.
- Plate, K.H. (2001) From angiogenesis to lymphangiogenesis. Nat. Med., 7, 151-152.
- Puri, M.C., Partanen, J., Rossant, J. and Bernstein, A. (1999) Interaction of the TEK and TIE receptor tyrosine kinases during cardiovascular development. *Development*, 126, 4569-4580.
- Puri, M.C., Rossant, J., Alitalo, K., Bernstein, A. and Partanen, J. (1995) The receptor tyrosine kinase TIE is required for integrity and survival of vascular endothelial cells. *EMBO J.*, 14, 5884-5891.
- Rahimi, N., Dayanir, V. and Lashkari, K. (2000) Receptor chimeras indicate that the vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-1 (VEGFR-1) modulates mitogenic activity of VEGFR-2 in endothelial cells. J. Biol. Chem., 275, 16986-16992.
- Risau, W. (1997) Mechanisms of angiogenesis. Nature, 386, 671-674.
- Risau, W. and Flamme, I. (1995) Vasculogenesis. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol, 11, 73-91.
- Robinson, C.J. and Stringer, S.E. (2001) The splice variants of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and their receptors. J. Cell Sci., 114, 853-865.
- Rohm, B., Ottemeyer, A., Lohrum, M. and Puschel, A.W. (2000) Plexin/neuropilin complexes mediate repulsion by the axonal guidance signal semaphorin 3A. *Mech. Dev.*, 93, 95-104.
- Sabin, F.R. (1902) On the origin of the lymphatic system from the veins and the development of the lymph hearts and thoracic duct in the pig. Am. J. Anat., 1, 367-391.
- Sabin, F.R. (1909) The lymphatic system in human embryos, with a consideration of the morphology of the system as a whole. *Am. J. Anat.*, **9**, 43-91.
- Sato, T.N., Tozawa, Y., Deutsch, U., Wolburg-Buchholz, K., Fujiwara, Y., Gendron-Maguire, M., Gridley, T., Wolburg, H., Risau, W. and Qin, Y. (1995) Distinct roles of the receptor tyrosine kinases Tie-1 and Tie-2 in blood vessel formation. *Nature*, **376**, 70-74.
- Sawano, A., Takahashi, T., Yamaguchi, S., Aonuma, M. and Shibuya, M. (1996) Flt-1 but not KDR/Flk-1 tyrosine kinase is a receptor for placenta growth factor, which is related to vascular endothelial growth factor. *Cell Growth. Differ.*, 7, 213-221.
- Schlessinger, J. (2000) Cell signaling by receptor tyrosine kinases. Cell, 103, 211-225.
- Schlessinger, J., Plotnikov, A.N., Ibrahimi, O.A., Eliseenkova, A.V., Yeh, B.K., Yayon, A., Linhardt, R.J. and Mohammadi, M. (2000) Crystal structure of a ternary FGF-FGFR-heparin complex reveals a dual role for heparin in FGFR binding and dimerization. *Mol. Cell*, 6, 743-750.
- Schlingemann, R.O., Dingjan, G.M., Emeis, J.J., Blok, J., Warnaar, S.O. and Ruiter, D.J. (1985) Monoclonal antibody PAL-E specific for endothelium. *Lab. Invest.*, 52, 71-76.
- Schneider, M., Othman-Hassan, K., Christ, B. and Wilting, J. (1999) Lymphangioblasts in the avian wing bud. Dev. Dyn., 216, 311-319.
- Schuh, A.C., Faloon, P., Hu, Q.L., Bhimani, M. and Choi, K. (1999) In vitro hematopoietic and endothelial potential of flk-1(-/-) embryonic stem cells and embryos. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 96, 2159-2164.
- Schwartz, M.A. (2001) Integrin signaling revisited. Trends Cell Biol., 11, 466-470.
- Senger, D.R., Galli, S.J., Dvorak, A.M., Perruzzi, C.A., Harvey, V.S. and Dvorak, H.F. (1983) Tumor cells secrete a vascular permeability factor that promotes accumulation of ascites fluid. *Science*, 219, 983-985.
- Shalaby, F., Ho, J., Stanford, W.L., Fischer, K.D., Schuh, A.C., Schwartz, L., Bernstein, A. and Rossant, J. (1997) A requirement for Flk1 in primitive and definitive hematopoiesis and vasculogenesis. *Cell*, 89, 981-990.
- Shalaby, F., Rossant, J., Yamaguchi, T.P., Gertsenstein, M., Wu, X.F., Breitman, M.L. and Schuh, A.C. (1995) Failure of blood island formation and vasculogenesis in Flk-1-deficient mice. *Nature*, **376**, 62-66.
- Shibuya, M. (2001) Structure and dual function of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-1 (Flt-1). Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol., 33, 409-420.
- Shima, D. T. and Mailhos, C. (2000) Vascular developmental biology: getting nervous. Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 10, 536-542.
- Skobe, M., Hawighoest, T., Jackson, D.G., Prevo, R., Janes, L., Velasco, P., Riccardi, L., Alitalo, K., Claffey, K. and Detmar, M. (2001) Induction of tumor lymphangiogenesis by VEGF-C promotes breast cancer metastasis. *Nat. Med.*, 7, 192-198.

- Sleeman, J.P., Krishnan, J., Kirkin, V. and Baumann, P. (2001) Markers for the lymphatic endothelium: in search of the holy grail? *Microsc. Res. Tech.*, 55, 61-69.
- Soker, S., Takashima, S., Miao, H.Q., Neufeld, G. and Klagsbrun, M. (1998) Neuropilin-1 is expressed by endothelial and tumor cells as an isoform-specific receptor for vascular endothelial growth factor. *Cell*, 92, 735-745.
- Sondell, M., Lundborg, G. and Kanje, M. (1999) Vascular endothelial growth factor has neurotrophic activity and stimulates axonal outgrowth, enhancing cell survival and Schwann cell proliferation in the peripheral nervous system. J. Neurosci., 19, 5731-5740.
- Sondell, M., Sundler, F. and Kanje, M. (2000) Vascular endothelial growth factor is a neurotrophic factor which stimulates axonal outgrowth through the flk-1 receptor. *Eur. J. Neurosci.*, 12, 4243-4254.
- Spivak-Kroizman, T., Lemmon, M.A., Dikic, I., Ladbury, J.E., Pinchasi, D., Huang, J., Jaye, M., Crumley, G., Schlessinger, J. and Lax, I. (1994) Heparin-induced oligomerization of FGF molecules is responsible for FGF receptor dimerization, activation, and cell proliferation. *Cell*, **79**, 1015-1024.
- Stacker, S.A., Caesar, C., Baldwin, M.E., Thornton, G.E., Williams, R.A., Prevo, R., Jackson, D.G., Nishikawa, S.-I., Kubo, H. and Achen, M.G. (2001) Vascular endothelial growth factor-D promotes the metastatic spread of cancer via the lymphatics. *Nat. Med.*, 7, 186-191.
- Stacker, S.A., Stenvers, K., Caesar, C., Vitali, A., Domagala, T., Nice, E., Roufail, S., Simpson, R.J., Moritz, R., Karpanen, T., Alitalo, K. and Achen, M.G. (1999) Biosynthesis of vascular endothelial growth factor-D involves proteolytic processing which generates non-covalent homodimers. J. Biol. Chem., 274, 32127-32136.
- Steffensen, J.F. and Lomholt, J.P. (1992) The secondary vascular system. In Hoar, W.S., Randall, D.J. and Farrell, A.P. (eds.), *Fish Physiology*. Academic Press, Inc., London, Vol. XII, Part A, pp. 185-217.
- Sundberg, C. and Rubin, K. (1996) Stimulation of beta1 integrins on fibroblasts induces PDGF independent tyrosine phosphorylation of PDGF beta-receptors. J. Cell Biol., 132, 741-752.
- Suri, C., Jones, P.F., Patan, S., Bartunkova, S., Maisonpierre, P.C., Davis, S., Sato, T.N. and Yancopoulos, G.D. (1997) Requisite role of Angiopoietin-1, a ligand for the TIE2 receptor, during embryonic angiogenesis. *Cell*, 87, 1161-1169.
- Suri, C., McClain, J., Thurston, G., McDonald, D.M., Zhou, H., Oldmixon, E.H., Sato, T.N. and Yancopoulos, G.D. (1998) Increased vascularization in mice overexpressing angiopoietin-1. *Science*, 282, 468-471.
- Suzuma, K., Takagi, H., Otani, A., Suzuma, I. and Honda, Y. (1998) Increased expression of KDR/Flk-1 (VEGFR-2) in murine model of ischemia-induced retinal neovascularization. *Microvasc. Res.*, 56, 183-191.
- Takagi, S., Kasuya, Y., Shimizu, M., Matsuura, T., Tsuboi, M., Kawakami, A. and Fujisawa, H. (1995) Expression of a cell adhesion molecule, neuropilin, in the developing chick nervous system. *Dev. Biol.*, **170**, 207-222.
- Takahashi, T., Fournier, A., Nakamura, F., Wang, L.H., Murakami, Y., Kalb, R.G., Fujisawa, H. and Strittmatter, S.M. (1999a) Plexin-neuropilin-1 complexes form functional semaphorin-3A receptors. *Cell*, 99, 59-69.
- Takahashi, T., Ueno, H. and Shibuya, M. (1999b) VEGF activates protein kinase C-dependent, but Ras-independent Raf-MEK-MAP kinase pathway for DNA synthesis in primary endothelial cells. Oncogene, 18, 2221-2230.
- Takayama, K., Ueno, H., Nakanishi, Y., Sakamoto, T., Inoue, K., Shimizu, K., Oohashi, H. and Hara, N. (2000) Suppression of tumor angiogenesis and growth by gene transfer of a soluble form of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor into a remote organ. *Cancer Res.*, 60, 2169-2177.
- Tamagnone, L., Artigiani, S., Chen, H., He, Z., Ming, G.I., Song, H., Chedotal, A., Winberg, M.L., Goodman, C.S., Poo, M., Tessier-Lavigne, M. and Comoglio, P.M. (1999) Plexins are a large family of receptors for transmembrane, secreted, and GPI-anchored semaphorins in vertebrates. *Cell*, 99, 71-80.
- Tao, Q., Backer, M.V., Backer, J.M. and Terman, B.I. (2001) Kinase insert domain receptor (KDR) extracellular immunoglobulin-like domains 4-7 contain structural features that block receptor dimerization and vascular endothelial growth factor-induced signaling. J. Biol. Chem., 276, 21916-21923.
- Terman, B.I., Khandke, L., Dougher-Vermazan, M., Maglione, D., Lassam, N.J., Gospodarowicz, D., Persico, M.G., Böhlen, P. and Eisinger, M. (1994) VEGF receptor subtypes KDR and FLT1 show different sensitivities to heparin and placenta growth factor. *Growth Factors*, **11**, 187-195.
- Thurston, G., Rudge, J.S., Ioffe, E., Zhou, H., Ross, L., Croll, S.D., Glazer, N., Holash, J., McDonald, K. and Yancopoulos, G.D. (2000) Angiopoietin-1 protects the adult vasculature against plasma leakage. *Nat. Med.*, 6, 460-463.
- Thurston, G., Suri, C., Smith, K., McClain, J., Sato, T.N., Yancopoulos, G.D. and McDonald, D.M. (1999) Leakageresistant blood vessels in mice transgenically overexpressing angiopoietin-1. *Science*, 286, 2511-2514.
- Thyboll, J., Kortesmaa, J., Cao, R., Soininen, R., Wang, L., Iivanainen, A., Sorokin, L., Risling, M., Cao, Y. and Tryggvason, K. (2002) Deletion of the laminin alpha4 chain leads to impaired microvessel maturation. *Mol. Cell Biol.*, 22, 1194-1202.

- Tsurusaki, T., Kanda, S., Sakai, H., Kanetake, H., Saito, Y., Alitalo, K. and Koji, T. (1999) Vascular endothelial growth factor-C expression in human prostatic carcinoma and its relationship to lymph node metastasis. *Br. J. Cancer*, 80, 309-313.
- Urness, L.D., Sorensen, L.K. and Li, D.Y. (2000) Arteriovenous malformations in mice lacking activin receptor-like kinase-1. Nat. Genet., 26, 328-331.
- Valenzuela, D.M., Griffiths, J.A., Rojas, J., Aldrich, T.H., Jones, P.F., Zhou, H., McClain, J., Copeland, N.G., Gilbert, D.J., Jenkins, N.A., Huang, T., Papadopoulos, N., Maisonpierre, P.C., Davis, S. and Yancopoulos, G.D. (1999) Angiopoietins 3 and 4: diverging gene counterparts in mice and humans. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 96, 1904-1909.
- Valtola, R., Salven, P., Heikkila, P., Taipale, J., Joensuu, H., Rehn, M., Pihlajaniemi, T., Weich, H., deWaal, R. and Alitalo, K. (1999) VEGFR-3 and its ligand VEGF-C are associated with angiogenesis in breast cancer. Am. J. Pathol., 154, 1381-1390.
- van der Geer, P., Hunter, T. and Lindberg, R. (1994) Receptor protein-tyrosine kinases and their signal transduction pathways. Ann. Rev. Cell Biol., 10, 251-337.
- Veikkola, T., Jussila, L., Makinen, T., Karpanen, T., Jeltsch, M., Petrova, T.V., Kubo, H., Thurston, G., McDonald, D.M., Achen, M.G., Stacker, S.A. and Alitalo, K. (2001) Signalling via vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-3 is sufficient for lymphangiogenesis in transgenic mice. *EMBO J.*, 20, 1223-1231.
- Veikkola, T., Karkkainen, M.J., Claesson-Welsh, L. and Alitalo, K. (2000) Regulation of angiogenesis via vascular endothelial growth factor receptors. *Cancer Res.*, **60**, 203-212.
- Vikkula, M., Boon, L.M., Carraway, K.L., Cavert, J.T., Diamonti, J.A., Goumnerov, B., Pasy, K.A., Marchuk, D.A., Warman, M.L., Cantley, L.C., Mulliken, J.B. and Olsen, B.R. (1996) Vascular dysmorphogenesis caused by an activating mutation in the receptor tyrosine kinase TIE2. *Cell*, 87, 1181-1190.
- Vogel, W.O. (1985) The caudal heart of fish: not a lymph heart. Acta Anat., 121, 41-45.
- Wang, H.U., Chen, Z.F. and Anderson, D.J. (1998) Molecular distinction and angiogenic interaction between embryonic arteries and veins revealed by ephrin-B2 and its receptor Eph-B4 [see comments]. Cell, 93, 741-753.
- Wang, J.-F., Ganju, R., Liu, Z.-Y., Avraham, H., Avraham, S. and Groopman, J. (1997) Signal transduction in human hematopoietic cells by vascular endothelial growth factor related protein, a novel ligand for the FLT4 receptor. *Blood*, **90**, 3507-3515.
- Wang, J.F., Zhang, X.F. and Groopman, J.E. (2001) Stimulation of beta-1 integrin induces tyrosine phosphorylation of VEGF receptor-3 and modulates cell migration. J. Biol. Chem., 276, 41950-41957.
- Whitaker, G.B., Limberg, B.J. and Rosenbaum, J.S. (2001) Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2 and neuropilin-1 form a receptor complex that is responsible for the differential signaling potency of VEGF(165) and VEGF(121). J. Biol. Chem., 276, 25520-25531.
- Wigle, J.T., Harvey, N., Detmar, M., Lagutina, I., Grosveld, G., Gunn, M.D., Jackson, D.G. and Oliver, G. (2002) An essential role for Prox1 in the induction of the lymphatic endothelial cell phenotype. *EMBO J.*, 21, 1505-1513.
- Wigle, J.T. and Oliver, G. (1999) Prox1 function is required for the development of the murine lymphatic system. *Cell*, 98, 769-778.
- Wilting, J., Eichmann, A. and Christ, B. (1997) Expression of the avian VEGF receptor homologues Quek1 and Quek2 in blood-vascular and lymphatic endothelial and non-endothelial cells during quail embryonic development. *Cell Tissue Res.*, 288, 207-223.
- Winnier, G.E., Hargett, L. and Hogan, B.L. (1997) The winged helix transcription factor MFH1 is required for proliferation and patterning of paraxial mesoderm in the mouse embryo. *Genes Dev.*, 11, 926-940.
- Winnier, G.E., Kume, T., Deng, K., Rogers, R., Bundy, J., Raines, C., Walter, M.A., Hogan, B.L. and Conway, S.J. (1999) Roles for the winged helix transcription factors MF1 and MFH1 in cardiovascular development revealed by nonallelic noncomplementation of null alleles. *Dev. Biol.*, **213**, 418-431.
- Wise, L.M., Veikkola, T., Mercer, A.A., Savory, L.J., Fleming, S.B., Caesar, C., Vitali, A., Makinen, T., Alitalo, K. and Stacker, S.A. (1999) Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)-like protein from orf virus NZ2 binds to VEGFR2 and neuropilin-1. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, **96**, 3071-3076.
- Witte, M.H., Bernas, M.J., Martin, C.P. and Witte, C.L. (2001) Lymphangiogenesis and lymphangiodysplasia: From molecular to clinical lymphology. *Microsc. Res. Tech.*, 55, 122-145.
- Witte, M.H., Way, D.L., Witte, C.L. and Bernas, M. (1997) Lymphangiogenesis: Mechanisms, significance and clinical implications. In Goldberg, I.D. and Rosen, E.M. (eds.), *Regulation of angiogenesis*. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, Switzerland, pp. 65-112.

- Witzenbichler, B., Asahara, T., Murohara, T., Silver, M., Spyridopoulos, I., Magner, M., Principe, N., Kearney, M., Hu, J.S. and Isner, J.M. (1998) Vascular endothelial growth factor-C (VEGF-C/VEGF-2) promotes angiogenesis in the setting of tissue ischemia. *Am. J. Pathol.*, **153**, 381-394.
- Yamada, Y., Takakura, N., Yasue, H., Ogawa, H., Fujisawa, H. and Suda, T. (2001) Exogenous clustered neuropilin 1 enhances vasculogenesis and angiogenesis. *Blood*, 97, 1671-1678.
- Yonemura, Y., Endo, Y., Fujita, H., Fushida, S., Ninomiya, I., Bandou, E., Taniguchi, K., Miwa, K., Ohoyama, S., Sugiyama, K. and Sasaki, T. (1999) Role of vascular endothelial growth factor C expression in the development of lymph node metastasis in gastric cancer. *Clin. Cancer Res.*, 5, 1823-1829.
- Yoshiji, H., Kuriyama, S., Ways, D.K., Yoshii, J., Miyamoto, Y., Kawata, M., Ikenaka, Y., Tsujinoue, H., Nakatani, T., Shibuya, M. and Fukui, H. (1999) Protein kinase C lies on the signaling pathway for vascular endothelial growth factor-mediated tumor development and angiogenesis. *Cancer Res.*, **59**, 4413-4418.
- Zelzer, E., McLean, W., Ng, Y.S., Fukai, N., Reginato, A.M., Lovejoy, S., D'Amore, P.A. and Olsen, B.R. (2002) Skeletal defects in VEGF(120/120) mice reveal multiple roles for VEGF in skeletogenesis. *Development*, 129, 1893-1904.
- Zhong, T.P., Childs, S., Leu, J.P. and Fishman, M.C. (2001) Gridlock signaling pathway fashions the first embryonic artery. *Nature*, 414, 216-220.
- Ziche, M., Maglione, D., Ribatti, D., Morbidelli, L., Lago, C.T., Battisti, M., Paoletti, I., Barra, A., Tucci, M., Parise, G., Vincenti, V., Granger, H.J., Viglietto, G. and Persico, M.G. (1997) Placenta growth factor-1 is chemotactic, mitogenic, and angiogenic. *Lab. Invest.*, 76, 517-531.